

https://lib.uliege.be



https://matheo.uliege.be

# Determining greenhouse gas emissions hotspots and potential abatement strategies: the rice sector in India and the cacao beans sector in Ivory Coast

Auteur : Quieng, Shery Rose
Promoteur(s) : 24100; 20773
Faculté : Gembloux Agro-Bio Tech (GxABT)
Diplôme : Master en bioingénieur : chimie et bioindustries, à finalité spécialisée
Année académique : 2023-2024
URI/URL : http://hdl.handle.net/2268.2/19882

Avertissement à l'attention des usagers :

Tous les documents placés en accès ouvert sur le site le site MatheO sont protégés par le droit d'auteur. Conformément aux principes énoncés par la "Budapest Open Access Initiative" (BOAI, 2002), l'utilisateur du site peut lire, télécharger, copier, transmettre, imprimer, chercher ou faire un lien vers le texte intégral de ces documents, les disséquer pour les indexer, s'en servir de données pour un logiciel, ou s'en servir à toute autre fin légale (ou prévue par la réglementation relative au droit d'auteur). Toute utilisation du document à des fins commerciales est strictement interdite.

Par ailleurs, l'utilisateur s'engage à respecter les droits moraux de l'auteur, principalement le droit à l'intégrité de l'oeuvre et le droit de paternité et ce dans toute utilisation que l'utilisateur entreprend. Ainsi, à titre d'exemple, lorsqu'il reproduira un document par extrait ou dans son intégralité, l'utilisateur citera de manière complète les sources telles que mentionnées ci-dessus. Toute utilisation non explicitement autorisée ci-avant (telle que par exemple, la modification du document ou son résumé) nécessite l'autorisation préalable et expresse des auteurs ou de leurs ayants droit.

#### Master thesis report

submitted to obtain the degrees of

- Master in biology AgroSciences (BAS) of the University of Reims Champagne-Ardenne
- Master of Science in Engineering of Tallinn University of Technology
- Master in Bioengineering: Chemistry and Bioindustries of the University of Liège

Determining greenhouse gas emissions hotspots and potential abatement strategies: the rice sector in India and the cacao beans sector in Ivory Coast

Presented by: QUIENG, Shery Rose Domingo

Defended the: 27/06/24

# Quantis

#### Supervised by Pecherska, Tetyana

at Quantis located in15 Rue de Cléry, 75002 Paris, France **from** 19/02/24 to 16/08/24

#### **Bioceb supervisors:**

PhD GENVA, Manon from Université de LiègePhD DULOVA, Niina from Tallinn University of TechnologyProf. LANDAUD, Sophie from AgroParisTech (Bioceb Permanent Jury)

Confidentiality: No



**TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY** SCHOOL OF ENGINEERING Department's title

## DETERMINING GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS HOTSPOTS AND POTENTIAL ABATEMENT STRATEGIES: THE RICE SECTOR IN INDIA AND THE CACAO BEANS SECTOR IN IVORY COAST

## KASVUHOONEGAASIDE HEITKOGUSTE LEVIALADE JA VÕIMALIKE VÄHENDAMISE STRATEEGIATE KINDLAKSMÄÄRAMINE: INDIA RIISISEKTOR JA ELEVANDILUURANNIKU KAKAOUBADE SEKTOR

## MASTER THESIS

Student: Shery Rose Domingo Quieng

Student code: 241394KVEM

Supervisor: Dr. Niina Dulova, Senior Research Scientist

> Dr. Manon Genva, Assistant Professor

Tallinn 2024

## **AUTHOR'S DECLARATION**

Hereby I declare that I have written this thesis independently.

No academic degree has been applied for based on this material. All works, major viewpoints and data of the other authors used in this thesis have been referenced.

16 June 2024

Author: Shery Rose Domingo QUIENG /signature /

Thesis is in accordance with terms and requirements

16 June 2024

Supervisors: Dr. Niina Dulova (TalTech) and Dr. Manon Genva (ULiège) /signature/

Accepted for defence

June 2024

Chairman of theses defence commission: Prof. Sophie Landaud /name and signature/

#### Non-exclusive licence for reproduction and publication of a graduation thesis<sup>1</sup>

I, Shery Rose Domingo Quieng,

1. grant Tallinn University of Technology free licence (non-exclusive licence) for my thesis

*Development of Climate Roadmaps for Rice Cultivation in India and Cocoa Production in Ivory Coast by 2050 in accordance with 1.5°C Pathway of the Paris Agreement,* 

supervised by Dr. Niina Dulova and Dr. Manon Genva,

- 1.1 to be reproduced for the purposes of preservation and electronic publication of the graduation thesis, incl. to be entered in the digital collection of the library of Tallinn University of Technology until expiry of the term of copyright;
- 1.2 to be published via the web of Tallinn University of Technology, incl. to be entered in the digital collection of the library of Tallinn University of Technology until expiry of the term of copyright.

2. I am aware that the author also retains the rights specified in clause 1 of the nonexclusive licence.

3. I confirm that granting the non-exclusive licence does not infringe other persons' intellectual property rights, the rights arising from the Personal Data Protection Act or rights arising from other legislation.

16 June 2024

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The non-exclusive licence is not valid during the validity of access restriction indicated in the student's application for restriction on access to the graduation thesis that has been signed by the school's dean, except in case of the university's right to reproduce the thesis for preservation purposes only. If a graduation thesis is based on the joint creative activity of two or more persons and the co-author(s) has/have not granted, by the set deadline, the student defending his/her graduation thesis consent to reproduce and publish the graduation thesis in compliance with clauses 1.1 and 1.2 of the non-exclusive licence, the non-exclusive license shall not be valid for the period.

## Department of Materials and Environmental Technology THESIS TASK

**Student:** Shery Rose Domingo Quieng, 241394KVEM

Study programme: KVEM12/21 Technology of Wood, Plastic and Textiles; Bioceb
 European Master in Biological and Chemical Engineering for a Sustainable Bioeconomy
 Supervisors: Niina Dulova, Senior Research Scientist, +372 620 2854
 Manon Genva, Assistant Professor
 Consultant: Tetyana Pecherska, Sustainability Consultant, Quantis,

pecherska.tetyana@quantis.com

#### Thesis topic:

 (in English) Determining greenhouse gas emissions hotspots and potential abatement strategies: the rice sector in India and the cacao beans sector in Ivory Coast
 (in Estonian) Kasvuhoonegaaside heitkoguste levialade ja võimalike vähendamise strateegiate kindlaksmääramine: India riisisektor ja Elevandiluuranniku kakaoubade sektor

#### Thesis main objectives:

- 1. To comprehensively assess current greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions determine the emission hotspots in the two sectors
- 2. To identify agricultural interventions with high GHG abatement potential for the selected sectors
- 3. To evaluate the costs and barriers associated to the implementation of the interventions.

#### Thesis tasks and time schedule:

No	Task description	Deadline
1.	Familiarization with relevant literature and documentation	05.2024
2.	Data collection, analysis and interpretation of results	05.2024
3.	Writing and formatting the thesis	06.2024

Language: English Deadline for submission of thesis:16 June 2024

Student: Shery Rose Domingo Quieng		27 March 2024
	/signature/	
Supervisors: Niina Dulova, Manon Genva		27 March 2024
	/signature/	
Consultant: Tetyana Pecherska		27 March 2024
	/signature/	
Head of study programme: Jaan Kers		28 March 2024
	/signature/	

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

PR	EFAC	E	11
	List of	abbreviations and symbols	12
AB	STRA	СТ	13
4	TAI	TRADUCTION	15
1.	TIN		15
2.	ST	ATE OF THE ART (Literature Review)	17
2	.1. C	Current agricultural emissions landscape	17
2	.2. N	let zero emissions in agriculture	19
2	.3. S	election of crops and countries for the study	20
	2.3.1.	Annual crop: paddy rice	
	2.3.2.	Rice production systems	
	2.3.3.	Yield: Paddy Rice	
	2.3.4.	Environmental Challenges: Paddy Rice	24
	2.3.5.	Impact of Rice on Climate Change	
	2.3.6.	Perennial crop: cacao	
	2.3.7.	Cacao production systems	
	2.3.8.	Yield: Cacao Beans	
	2.3.9.	Environmental Challenges: Cacao Beans	
	2.3.10	Impact of Cacao Production on Climate Change	
	2.3.11	. Potential Impact of Climate Change on Paddy Rice and Cacao	
	Produ	ction	31
	2.3.12	2. Agricultural Interventions	
	2.3.13	<ol> <li>Significance of the Study</li> </ol>	
	2.3.14	l. Objectives	34
3.	ME	THODOLOGY	35
	3.1.	System boundary	
	3.2.	Data collection	35
	3.3.	Identification of key drivers of emissions	
	3.4.	Identification of most relevant agricultural interventions	37
	D		
4.		SUL 15	38
	4.1.	Paddy rice	
	4.1.1.	Overview and contribution analysis of paddy rice EF	
	4.1.2.	Gas split of paddy rice EF	
	4.2.	Cacao beans	
	4.2.1.	Overview and contribution analysis of cacao beans EF	
	4.2.2.	Impact of land use change (LUC) on cacao beans EF	
	4.2.3.	Fertilizer-related emissions of cacao beans cultivation	
	4.2.4.	Gas split of cacao beans EF	50
5.	DI	SCUSSION OF RESULTS	51
	5.1.	Paddy rice EF – India	51
	5.2.	Interventions for the paddy rice sector in India	52
	5.3.	Barriers to implementation of interventions: paddy rice sector in Inc	lia55
	5.4.	Costs of implementation of interventions: paddy rice sector in India.	56
	5.5.	Cacao beans EF – Ivory Coast	56
	5.6.	Interventions for the cacao beans sector in Ivory Coast	59
	5.7.	Barriers to implementation of interventions: cacao beans sector in I	vory
	Coast		62

	5.8. Coast	Costs of implementation of interventions: cacao beans sector in Ivory	63
6.	СО	NCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES	. 65
LIS	T OF	REFERENCES	. 67
API	PEND	ICES	. 87

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Levers to abate forecasted emissions of the agricultural and land use, land-
use change and forestry (LULUCF) in 2050 expressed in $GtCO_2e^1$ according to GWP AR6
$100 Y^2$ conforming to the 1.5°C pathway (McKinsey & Company, 2023)17
Figure 2. Projected global greenhouse gas emissions from agricultural activities per
emission source in 2050 expressed in $GtCO_2e$ according to GWP AR6 100Y(McKinsey &
Company, 2023)
Figure 3. Infographic on the production and exportation of rice in the global market
(CIRAD, 2022)22
Figure 4. Rice cropping systems (CIRAD, 2023)23
Figure 5. Rice field leveling with animals (A); field leveling with tractor (B); bund
construction (C)24
Figure 6. Top 10 countries with highest deforestation of tropical primary rainforest in
2018 (Weisse & Goldman, 2019)
Figure 7. Venn diagram of agricultural interventions available for paddy rice and cacao
beans sector
Figure 8. Contributors to paddy rice emission factors (EF) in Brazil (BR), Chile (CL),
China (CN), India (IN), Italy (IT), Mexico (MX), Pakistan (PK) and the United Sates (US)
expressed in percentage share of the EF (%)
Figure 9. Breakdown of the emissions related to fertilizer production in paddy rice
cultivation in Brazil (BR), Chile (CL), China (CN), India (IN), Italy (IT), Mexico (MX),
Pakistan (PK) and the United Sates (US) expressed in percentage share (%)
Figure 10. Breakdown of paddy rice emission factors into various types of gases in the
following countries: Brazil (BR), Chile (CL), China (CN), India (IN), Italy (IT), Mexico
(MX), Pakistan (PK) and the United Sates (US) expressed in percentage share of the EF $$
(%). Other gas category includes HFCs, PFCs, SF6 and NF342
Figure 11. Contribution analysis of the cacao beans production mix emission factor (EF)
of Brazil (BR), Ivory Coast (CI), Cameroon (CM), Ecuador (EC), Ghana (GH), Indonesia
(ID) expressed in percentage share of the EF (%)45
Figure 12. Breakdown of land use change-related emissions of production mix emission
factors of cacao cultivation in Brazil (BR), Ivory Coast (CI), Cameroon (CM), Ecuador
(EC), Ghana (GH), Indonesia (ID) expressed in percentage share (%)46
Figure 13. Emission factors of various types of cacao beans production systems in Ivory
Coast (a) with and (b) without land use change. Cacao EFs are based on data from 2007
to 2017
Figure 14. Breakdown of the emissions related to fertilizer production in cacao beans
cultivation in Brazil (BR), Ivory Coast (CI), Cameroon (CM), Ecuador (EC), Ghana (GH),
Indonesia (ID) expressed in percentage share (%)49

Figure 15. Breakdown of cacao beans (production mix) emission factors into various types of gases in the following countries: Brazil (BR), Ivory Coast (CI), Cameroon (CM), Ecuador (EC), Ghana (GH), Indonesia (ID) expressed in percentage share (%). Other gas category includes HFCs, PFCs, SF6 and NF3......50

#### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Five major categories of cacao beans farming systems according to Daymon	d
et al. (2022)2	8
Fable 2. Top ten countries producing cacao beans in 2022 based on production quantitie	s
with corresponding area harvested and yield (FAOSTAT, 2023)2	9
Table 3. Comparison of cocoa agroforestry system and cocoa monoculture based on	а
neta-analysis of 52 scientific articles (Niether et al., 2020).	7
Table 4. Classification of exchanges (input and output processes) as contributors t	0
baddy rice and cacao beans emission factors8	7

## PREFACE

This thesis is the culmination of my studies under the Biological and Chemical Engineering for a Sustainable Bioeconomy (Bioceb) program, undertaken to fulfill the requirements for the following triple master's degree:

• Master in Biology and AgroSciences (BAS) of the University of Reims Champagne-Ardenne

- Master of Science in Engineering of Tallinn University of Technology
- Master in Bioengineering: Chemistry and Bioindustries of the University of Liège

The topic, "Determining greenhouse gas emissions hotspots and potential abatement strategies: the rice sector in India and the cacao beans sector in Ivory Coast," was initiated in collaboration with Quantis, where I had the opportunity to work under the guidance of various analysts. Most of all, I am deeply grateful to Tetyana Pecherska, my internship company supervisor, for her invaluable support, guidance and feedback throughout this process.

I would also like to extend my heartfelt thanks to my academic supervisors, Dr. Niina Dulova from Tallinn University of Technology and Dr. Manon Genava from the University of Liege Agro-Biotech Gembloux. Their expertise, insightful feedback, and constant encouragement have been instrumental in shaping this thesis.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge all the colleagues and friends who assisted and inspired me during this journey. Their contributions and encouragement have helped me complete this work.

This thesis explores critical issues in greenhouse gas emissions and mitigation strategies in the agricultural sectors of India and Ivory Coast. It aims to identify emissions hotspots and propose effective strategies for reducing greenhouse gas emissions in these key agricultural sectors.

Key words: greenhouse gas emissions, abatement strategies, rice sector, cacao beans sector, master thesis

## List of abbreviations and symbols

- + greenhouse gas (GHG)
- + land use, land-use change and forestry (LULUCF)
- + emission factors (EF)
- + CO<sub>2</sub>e carbon dioxide equivalents
- + land-use change (LUC)
- + Biomass energy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS
- + Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO)
- + biological nitrogen fixation (BNF)
- + Cocoa Swollen Shoot Virus (CSSV)
- + World Food LCA Database (WFLDB)
- + paddy rice-wheat (PW)
- + paddy rice-potato-fallow (PP)
- + alternate wetting and drying (AWD)
- + dry direct rice seeding (DDRS)
- + global warming potential (GWP)
- + transplanted rice (TPR)
- + Cool Farm Tool (CFT)
- + good agricultural practices (GAP)
- + World Wildlife Fund (WWF)
- + soil organic carbon (SOC)
- + integrated pest management (IPM)

# ABSTRACT

The urgency to mitigate greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, particularly in the agricultural sector, has become paramount in the wake of escalating climate change. This urgency is underscored by the Paris Agreement's ambitious goal of limiting the temperature rise to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels. Agriculture, Forestry, and Other Land Use (AFOLU) sectors, accountable for 22% of total global emissions, have been identified as significant contributors. This paper addresses the imperative need for strategic and comprehensive actions within agriculture to align with the 1.5°C pathway.

Focusing on two critical crops essential to the modern diet – rice and cocoa – this master's thesis aims to assess GHG emissions comprehensively, identify principal sources of emissions, and propose agricultural interventions with high GHG abatement potential. The research considers India as a major rice producer and exporter and Ivory Coast as the largest cacao bean producer and exporter globally.

Challenges in achieving emission reduction targets include the immense scale and heterogeneity of agricultural production systems. Each production system, influenced by factors such as geography, type of production, and farming practices, exhibits different emission sources and magnitudes. Moreover, farmers lack adequate incentives to adopt novel methods and technologies crucial for climate change mitigation.

The results reveal that direct emissions dominate in rice cultivation, primarily methane and nitrous oxide emissions from flooded paddy rice fields. In contrast, land use changes due to massive deforestation to accommodate the growing demand for cacao accounts for most of the emissions in this agricultural sector. The paper identifies interventions such as alternate wetting and drying in rice cultivation and agroforestry in cacao production as effective strategies for climate mitigation.

However, significant knowledge gaps exist regarding the applicability, costs, and barriers to implementing these interventions. Enhanced research and development efforts are necessary to address these gaps and foster adoption by farmers. Transparent methodologies and accurate estimations of GHG abatement are crucial for guiding strategies towards achieving net-zero emissions by 2050 and aligning with the goals of the Paris Agreement.

In conclusion, while challenges remain, agriculture holds the potential to achieve netzero emissions with sufficient support, motivation, and concerted efforts across stakeholders. Enhanced research, development, and adoption of sustainable practices are essential for realizing this potential and mitigating the impacts of climate change on global food security.

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

In the face of escalating climate change matters, the requisite to mitigate greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions has been more pressing than ever. The ambition of the Paris Agreement (PA) to limit the temperature-rise to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels compels strategic and comprehensive actions across all sectors, including agriculture. In 2019, Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use (AFOLU) was accountable for 22% of total global emissions according to the IPCC report in 2023 (Calvin et al., 2023). Excluding land use, land use change and forestry, the European Union estimates that 11% of its emissions in 2021 are from agriculture (French Ministry of the Energy Transition, 2023). Likewise, the US reported a 10% contribution of agriculture to its total emissions (US EPA, 2015). Global emissions are predicted to increase as the world's population continues to rise and the demand for food along with it. By 2050, the food sector must reduce its absolute emissions by 80% despite the increase in demand for production (WWF, 2024). On the other hand, the IPCC urges for the implementation of strategies to reach net zero emissions globally by 2050 in order to limit global warming to an additional 1.5°C (Calvin et al., 2023). Faced with these challenges, the agricultural sector must transform its practices and systems at a substantial and rapid scale to be aligned with the 1.5°C pathway.

However, barriers, such as immense scale and heterogeneity of agricultural production systems, must first be overcome to achieve emission abatement targets. Thousands of different species of plants, fungi and animals (including breeds) are cultivated, raised or caught for food while hundreds of millions of farmers work on the field. Each production system has different sources of greenhouse gases and to different extents. For instance, enteric fermentation is the leading source of cattle GHG emissions whereas nitrous oxide emissions during fertilizer application is the primary source in row crops. Moreover, the heterogeneity mentioned is compounded by the dependency of emissions on geography (soil, climate, water, etc.), type of production system and more leading to a ten- to hundred-fold differences (WWF, 2024). On top of those higher-level constraints, farmers who are pivotal to the sustainability transition of agriculture currently lack adequate incentives to embrace novel methods and technologies (McKinsey & Company, 2023).

Besides climate change and decarbonization matters, agriculture cannot be disconnected from its impact to nature and society when discussing sustainability (McKinsey & Company, 2023). Ritchie and Roser (2024) report that agricultural land spans half of all inhabitable areas and accounts for 70% of freshwater extraction.

15

Furthermore, Benton et al. (2021) pinpoint that current food production systems are the main cause of global biodiversity decline, with escalating impacts on biosphere health, human well-being, and food availability. Six out of the nine planetary boundaries have already surpassed the tipping point where irreversible consequences may be experienced as outlined by the Stockholm Resilience Centre (Stockholm Resilience Centre, 2023). The ones crossed include climate change, biosphere integrity, land system change (i.e., land use change), biogeochemical flows (i.e., phosphorus and nitrogen cycles), freshwater change and novel entities. The remaining three are ocean acidification, atmospheric aerosol landing and stratospheric ozone depletion. Therefore, it is also imperative to discuss trade-offs along with benefits related to decarbonization actions.

As there are only 26 years remaining before 2050, individual producers, farms and companies cannot work in silos, squandering time and resource on the same mistakes. In contrast, knowledge should be shared so that mitigation strategies can be applied to where they are pertinent and can be successfully applied based on geography, type of operations and scale (WWF, 2024). By examining the factors behind variations in emissions and identifying pivotal interventions for each commodity, key production systems, geographic areas, sources of emissions for intervention and motivations can be pinpointed to accelerate change for climate mitigation. Therefore, this master's thesis aims to contribute by comprehensively assessing GHG emissions, determining the principal sources of emissions, and identifying agricultural interventions with high GHG abatement potential, all of which are commodity-specific and focused on crucial crops to the modern human diet, such as rice and cocoa.

## 2. STATE OF THE ART (Literature Review)

## 2.1. Current agricultural emissions landscape

According to the report entitled "The agricultural transition: Building a sustainable future" published recently by McKinsey & Company (2023), the agricultural and LULUCF sector must cut down its overall emissions by approximately 80% from 14.4 to 3.1 Gt carbon dioxide equivalents (CO<sub>2</sub>e) by 2050 (Figure 1) to be on track with the 1.5°C pathway. As this paper focuses on commodity-based climate roadmaps, only two levers identified above are tackled: (1) sustainable food production and (2) land conservation, including natural carbon sinks. Nevertheless, these two levers still comprise 9 Gt CO<sub>2</sub>e or 82% of the total emission reduction target.



Figure 1. Levers to abate forecasted emissions of the agricultural and land use, landuse change and forestry (LULUCF) in 2050 expressed in  $GtCO_2e^1$  according to GWP AR6  $100Y^2$  conforming to the 1.5°C pathway (McKinsey & Company, 2023).

<sup>1</sup> Metric gigatons of carbon dioxide equivalent

<sup>2</sup> Global warming potential as summarized in the 100-year scenario of the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report.



Figure 2. Projected global greenhouse gas emissions from agricultural activities per emission source in 2050 expressed in GtCO<sub>2</sub>e according to GWP AR6 100Y(McKinsey & Company, 2023).

McKinsey & Company (2023) reported 3 main sources of emissions, accounting for an estimated 74% of the total emissions. Thus, targeting these 3 main areas has great potential for significant reductions. With 5.9 Gt CO<sub>2</sub>e in 2020, the primary source of emissions is land-use change (LUC) which are those associated with the conversion of land for agricultural purposes. Forests have been cleared to pave way for more row crops, livestock and feed production. Other LUC examples include peatland and grassland conversion into agricultural fields. It is noted that 33% of the Earth's ice-free land is currently employed for feed production while 26% is for livestock grazing (FAO, 2013). To be in line with the 1.5°C pathway, LUC, particularly deforestation should be monitored closely and halted immediately.

Enteric fermentation with a forecasted 3.2 Gt CO<sub>2</sub>e emissions in 2050 comes second. It is defined as the methane emitted by ruminants such as cattle, goats, and sheep during their digestion process. Methane significantly augments the carbon footprint of ruminants compared to other sources of protein, e.g., poultry, seafood, and plant-based proteins. Third is energy utilised in agriculture with an estimated 1.4 Gt CO<sub>2</sub>e emissions in 2050. It refers to on-farm emissions linked to energy production, mainly fuel combustion as well as electricity generation. Synthetic fertilizers from production to application also contribute significantly to the total emissions with 0.6 Gt CO<sub>2</sub>e emissions in 2020 and an additional 0.2 Gt CO<sub>2</sub>e emissions by 2050 (McKinsey & Company, 2023).

## 2.2. Net zero emissions in agriculture

Several studies aimed to investigate how net zero emissions can be achieved in the agricultural sector and to what extent can it be attained.

Rees et al. (2020) reported that in contrast to other sectors, agriculture cannot entirely reach net zero emissions alone through on-farm interventions that reduce mainly methane and nitrous oxide missions. They highlighted the crucial role of land use sector, (i.e., afforestation, reforestation, conversion of degraded land into silvopasture, etc.) in mitigating residual emissions. "Biomass energy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS)" presents the greatest potential for CO<sub>2</sub> capture, while other methods like enhanced soil carbon sequestration, mineral weathering, biochar application, and direct air capture are also being investigated. Similarly, Teske & Nagrath (2022) who examined global net zero targets in "agriculture, forestry and harvested products" concluded the improbability of the agriculture sector to achieve net zero by 2050, whereas the forest sector can transform into carbon sinks (i.e., carbon negative).

A more recent study by Rosa & Gabrielli (2023) reviewed the current available technologies and innovations to diminish GHG emissions in the agricultural sector. They considered decarbonization of on-farm energy consumption, adaptation of nitrogen fertilizer management measures, implementation of alternative rice farming methods, and application of breeding and feeding technologies to decrease enteric methane emissions. Combining all these measures resulted in a 42% abatement of GHG emissions according to their model. The remaining 3.8 Gt CO<sub>2</sub>e/year must be offset using carbon removal technologies. They underscored that although technologies are available, the elevated costs and low scalability hinder its implementation.

Conversely, WWF (2024) and McKinsey & Company (2023) indicate that agricultural production could reduce its emissions by 80% (from 14.4 Gt CO2e to 3.1 Gt CO2e) by 2050. The remaining 20% of emissions can be mitigated by shifting diets away from animal protein, decreasing food loss and waste, and adopting nature-based solutions such as afforestation, wetland restoration, and agroforestry.

Overall, the literature indicates that achieving net zero in the agricultural sector requires the implementation of carbon removal strategies such as BECCS, enhanced soil carbon sequestration (e.g., agroforestry, no tillage, cover cropping, etc., biochar application), nature-based solutions, in addition to greenhouse gas reduction methods across the entire value chain.

## 2.3. Selection of crops and countries for the study

This study not only aims to develop climate roadmaps but also focuses on investigating the similarities and differences in the agricultural interventions that can be applied to annuals and perennials.

In agriculture, crops can be categorized into two main types: annuals and perennials, depending on the duration of their life cycles (Friedman, 2020). Annual plants live for a single season, during which they grow, produce seeds, begin senescence, and die (Poppenwimer et al., 2023). These plants are associated with seed dormancy traits, implying that in stressful environmental conditions, the seeds enter the soil seed bank and remain dormant until conditions improve; hence, enabling annuals to have a brief juvenile phase and quickly produce seeds, aiding species survival (Lundgren and Des Marais, 2020). According to FAO (2023), cereals were the most produced group of crops globally in 2022, with a total output of 3.1 billion tonnes. In this group, maize (Zea mays), wheat (Triticum aestivum), and rice (Oryza sativa) were the three most significant crops in terms of production volume (FAO, 2023). Despite their high yields, annual crops demand significant field preparation, tilling, crop management, and frequent agrichemical use to achieve optimal results (Chapman et al., 2022). These intensive agricultural practices contribute to soil degradation, loss of biodiversity, and increased carbon emissions, exacerbating the threats posed by climate change (Lal, 2012).

In contrast, perennial plants continue to live for over two years and often regrow from the same roots. The ability to flower and produce seeds numerous times over their lifespan are what mainly sets perennials apart from annuals. (Mauseth, 2011; Pimentel et al., 2012). In agriculture, perennialism offers numerous environmental advantages. Once perennial crops are planted, they can be cultivated and harvested over several seasons, thus, minimizing tillage requirements. In addition, their deep roots contribute to increasing soil organic carbon over time (Paustian et al., 2016; Peixoto et al., 2022). Compared to annuals, perennials tend to exhibit superior nutrient uptake, weed suppression, reduced nutrient leaching, and enhance soil microbial biomass (Glover et al., 2007; Audu et al., 2022). Sugar cane (*Saccharum spp.*), palm fruit (*Elaeis spp.*), coffee (*Coffea arabica*) and cacao (*Theobroma cacao*) are among the most produced perennial crops based on global area harvested in 2017 (Migicovsky & Myles, 2017). While perennials require less intensive management, they are as threatened by climate change as annuals, i.e., via heat and water stress, extreme temperatures, etc. (Hatfield & Walthall, 2014).

#### 2.3.1. Annual crop: paddy rice

Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) is the third most produced crop in the world with 777 million tons produced in 2022 according to FAO (FAOSTAT, 2023). The world trade was valued at \$32.1 billion in 2022 (OEC, 2022b). It is a 32% increase since the beginning of the century (2000). It is a staple food crop for approximately half of the global population. Furthermore, rice serves as a vital food staple, supplying over 70% of the caloric intake for populations in numerous developing nations (Fukagawa & Ziska, 2019).

Asia is the leading producer of rice with China (27%), India (25%) and Bangladesh (7%) being the top producers (CIRAD, 2022; FAO, 2022) as shown in Figure 3. Approximately 91% of global paddy rice production and 90% of area cultivated for rice are located in Asia (Fukagawa & Ziska, 2019). The top three rice exporters to the global market in 2022 were India (35%), Thailand (13%) and Vietnam (10%) (OEC, 2022b). While the percentage share varied slightly in comparison to 2021 (Figure 3) (FAOSTAT, 2023), the major key players remained the same. In contrast, the top three rice importers were China (8%), Philippines (5%) and Saudi Arabia (4%) in 2022 (OEC, 2022b). **As a major rice producer and exporter to the global market, the analyses related to rice will be focusing on India**.

Rice cultivation occupies 11% of the world's arable land and accounts for 10.1% of overall agricultural emissions, along with approximately 1.3%–1.8% of anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions globally (Meijide et al., 2017; FAO, 2022). The primary source of these emissions is methane released during rice cultivation (US EPA, 2012). Annual methane emissions from rice fields worldwide are estimated to range from 25 to 100 metric ton (t), constituting 48% of total greenhouse gas emissions from croplands worldwide (Carlson et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2023).

Therefore, rice was selected as the annual crop for this study for three principal reasons: (1) its critical role in global food security (especially in Asia, Latin America and Africa), (2) its environmental impact, and (3) vulnerability to climate change. FAO, IPCC AR6, Friedlingstein et al. (2020) identified rice cultivation as an individual, significant source of emissions with 0.7 Gt CO<sub>2</sub>e in 2020 as illustrated in Figure 2 (McKinsey & Company, 2023). Additionally, the researcher is originally from the Philippines, where rice holds significant economic value as a cash crop – accounting roughly 23% of total agricultural production value (PhilRice, 2023). Therefore, rice emerges as a pertinent crop for this study on multiple levels.



Figure 3. Infographic on the production and exportation of rice in the global market (CIRAD, 2022).

## 2.3.2. Rice production systems

A synoptic review by Asian Development Bank Institute (Reddy & Rahut, 2023) on the multifunctionality of rice underscores the adaptability of the crop to diverse agroclimatic conditions worldwide. These conditions span from exceptionally wet regions to exceedingly arid deserts. For example, Myanmar's Arakan coast experiences an average precipitation exceeding 5,100 millimeters (mm) during the growing season, whereas Saudi Arabia's Al-Ahsa Oasis receives less than 100 mm of rainfall. Furthermore, rice demonstrates resilience across a broad spectrum of temperatures, ranging from 17°C in Otaru, Japan, to 33°C in Sindh, Pakistan. It thrives under solar radiation levels ranging from 25% in Myanmar, Thailand, and India to 95% in Egypt and Sudan, as well as at altitudes of up to 2,600 meters above sea level in Nepal (Neue & Sass, 1994; Sass & Fisher, 1997; Global Rice Science Partnership, 2013).

A classification of rice production systems was created based on water regimes, temperature and landscape of the region, i.e., rainfed lowland, upland, irrigated and flood prone (Greenland, 1997). These four categories are widely used such as by the International Rice Research Institute. Over half of the rice-growing land utilizes irrigation, while the rest relies on rainfall, particularly in lowland regions. Across Africa and Latin America, rice cultivation predominantly occurs in upland areas, with less than 20% benefiting from irrigation (Reddy & Rahut, 2023). Conversely, in Europe, the United States, and Australia, rice cultivation takes place exclusively in irrigated regions (Papademetriou et al., 2000). An illustration of various rice cropping systems is provided in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Rice cropping systems (CIRAD, 2023).

#### 2.3.3. Yield: Paddy Rice

Although rice production surged after the Green Revolution, there remains a gap between its actual and potential yields. Rice can yield between 10 metric tons per hectare (t/ha) under tropical conditions and 13 t/ha under temperate conditions, however, actual farm-level yields typically fall below 5 t/ha as reported by (Papademetriou et al., 2000). Scientific research efforts are ongoing to decrease the yield gap through the development of higher yielding cultivars. Modifications in agronomic practices are also taking place to boost yields while reducing pressures on natural resources like water. For instance, Bangladesh substituted deep water rice with Boro rice that can be cultivated during dry season in South Asia (Reddy & Rahut, 2023). Approaches such as system of rice intensification (SRI) (where irrigation is tailored to meet the specific water needs of the crop without flooding), direct seeding and aerobic rice are also being developed to address the mentioned issues. However, their lower yields and higher costs render them non-competitive still compared to other systems (Riaz et al., 2020).

## 2.3.4. Environmental Challenges: Paddy Rice

Rice production face challenges such as monocropping, water intensity, decreasing number of farmers, climate change and overapplication of nitrogen fertilizers. Rice monocropping has been a practice for decades as the conversion of rice fields to cultivate other crops are costly and arduous (Adusumilli et al., 2017; Reddy & Rahut, 2023). Not only does the soil have poor drainage, but it has also undergone field levelling and bunding (Figure 5). Consequently, farmers persist with cultivating rice on the same plots for extended periods and the modest yield enhancements are only brought by elevated fertilizer application. However, this approach not only escalate expenses but also exacerbates soil deterioration and water pollution (Papademetriou et al., 2000).



Figure 5. Rice field leveling with animals (A); field leveling with tractor (B); bund construction (C) (Rice Knowledge Bank, n.d.).

Furthermore, rice is one of the most water-intensive crops. Water-use efficiency remains low in this sector as indicated by the ratio of water to rice (5000 L/kg of rice) whereas available water in Asia has declined by 40 to 60% (Papademetriou et al., 2000). Meanwhile, the diminishing profits and rising age of farmers impact the rates of technology adoptions alongside efficient resource utilization (Deshpande & Prabhu, 2005). Climate change is also expected to disturb water resources available for rice production (Mushtaq et al., 2013).

Another problem in the rice sector is the overapplication of nitrogen fertilizers. Extensive studies conducted at the International Rice Research Institute revealed that significant rice yields can be achieved without relying on nitrogen fertilizers, owing to rice's considerable biological nitrogen fixation (BNF) capacity (Ladha et al., 2016; Adusumilli et al., 2017). Ladha et al. (2016) estimated that rice cultivation provides 40 kg of nitrogen/ha/season from BNF, atmospheric deposition and irrigation water. It is attributed to paddy soils minimizing water percolation combined with flooding irrigation averting nutrient leaching downward to deeper soil horizons (Chivenge et al., 2020). Chivenge et al. (2020) supported the idea and reported the flooded soil conditions is conducive to biological nutrient cycling in the context of rice production. An analysis of the top three major cereal crops based on quantity (i.e., maize, rice and wheat) by ADBI (2023) revealed that only rice exhibits a positive nitrogen balance. This can be attributed to the lower nitrogen content in harvested rice grain compared to the other two cereal crops in addition to BNF (Reddy & Rahut, 2023). Nevertheless, farmers in Asia continue to apply increasing amounts of nitrogen since 1970s, leading to eutrophication and other forms of soil and water contamination (Ladha et al., 2016; Adusumilli et al., 2017).

#### 2.3.5. Impact of Rice on Climate Change

Flooded rice fields are significant sources of methane emissions, and the application of nitrogen fertilizers releases nitrous oxide, both of which are greenhouse gases contributing to global warming (FAO, 2024). The mechanisms contributing to methane release from submerged rice fields into the atmosphere comprise methane generation within the soil by methane-producing microorganisms (methanogens), methane consumption within oxygen-rich regions of the soil and flooded areas by methane-consuming microorganisms (methanotrophs), and the upward movement of the gas from the soil into the atmosphere. Methane emerges as the final byproduct in various anaerobic microbial decomposition pathways (Holzapfel-Pschorn & Seiler, 1986). The main process facilitating methane release from rice paddies is plant-mediated transport, wherein up to 90% of methane is conveyed to the atmosphere via the aerenchymal system of rice plants (Cicerone & Shetter, 1981).

The type of rice cropping system has an impact on its emissions (Wassmannu et al., 2001). According to a paper under the "Good Practice Guidance and Uncertainty Management in National Greenhouse Gas Inventories" of the IPCC (2006), the emission per square meter and season is arranged as follows: irrigated rice surpasses continuously flooded rice, which exceeds flood-prone rainfed rice, deepwater rice, drought-prone rainfed rice, and tidal rice in terms of emissions. Upland rice, which is cultivated in aerated soils and are not flooded for extended periods of time (Neue &

Sass, 1994). Nevertheless, this hierarchy merely offers an initial evaluation of emission potentials that may be overridden at the local level by crop management practices that either enhance or reduce actual emission rates (Wassmann et al., 2001).

Although there are many factors that can affect emissions of a paddy rice field, the greatest methane emissions occur in fields where organic amendments are applied. In contrast, the lowest methane emissions are detected in fields characterized by minimal residue recycling, frequent aeration intervals, impoverished soils, and limited fertilizer application, leading to suboptimal rice growth and reduced yields (Neue & Sass, 1994).

#### 2.3.6. Perennial crop: cacao

Similar to rice, cacao (*Theobroma cacao*) was chosen as the perennial crop for this study due to its economic importance, role in global food supply, environmental impact and susceptibility to climate change phenomena. In the first quarter of 2024, it has been reported that the price cacao skyrocketed 136% between July 2022 and February 2024, which is attributed to high market demand while the supply is low. Western Africa, where more than 70% of cacao are cultivated, has been significantly impacted by adverse climate-related event (Carodenuto, 2019). For instance, excessive, abrupt rainfall in Ivory Coast and Ghana prompted an outburst of black pod disease, a condition causing cacao pods to rot and toughen, and swollen shoot virus (UNCTAD, 2024). This shows how cacao yields have been negatively impacted by climate-related events, i.e., intense heatwaves (heat stress), shifting rainfalls (water stress) and pest and diseases.

Cultivated across the humid tropics, cacao involves approximately 5-6 million farmers, predominantly smallholders. Latest data from FAOSTAT (2022) indicates that cacao production spans 61 countries, yet nearly 90% originates from only seven, notably Ivory Coastand Ghana, which contributed over 60% over the period 2021/2022. The majority of cacao cultivation occurs in West Africa, accounting for 77.3% of the 2020/2021 season's output (ICCO, 2021). Latin America and South/Southeast Asia also yield significant cacao volumes (Daymond et al., 2022).

The global trading of cacao beans is valued at \$8.29 billion in 2022. Cote d'Ivoire (40%), Ghana (12%) and Ecuador (11%) were the top exporters, whereas the Netherlands (20%), Malaysia (12%), Germany (8%) and Belgium (8%) were the top importers in the mentioned year (OEC, 2022a). As the largest producer and exporter of cacao beans in the world, the cacao climate roadmap will be focused on Ivory Coast.

While cacao and cocoa are used interchangeably in English, they refer to different things. Cacao is the raw material, i.e., the cacao beans harvested from the tree, whereas cocoa is the product that has been powdered, roasted, and ready for direct consumption. Since this paper centralizes on the farm level cultivation of cacao and its unroasted beans, the terminology cacao will be maintained (Lindt & Sprungli, 2021; Merriam-Webster, 2024).

## 2.3.7. Cacao production systems

WWF Netherlands reported\_that over 90% of the world's cocoa output are cultivated on plots ranging from 2 to 5 hectares, i.e., by small-scale farmers (Jennings et al., 2022). Cacao plantations can be managed in a variety of ways, from traditional low-input agroforestry systems to highly intensive monocultures (Recanati et al., 2018). Each production system comes with its own farm management practices. This consequently influences the emissions associated to the production of cacao, particularly the quantity of shade trees and the handling of residues based on the study conducted by (Vervuurt et al., 2022).

Management practices in cacao plantations entail the application of pruning, shade regulation, fertilizers and waste management. Common examples of shade trees include timber species like *Cordia alliodora*, leguminous species such as *Erythrina poeppigiana*, and fruit trees like mango, orange and avocado. Shade trees make up a significant portion of the plantation's total aboveground biomass (Dawoe et al., 2016). Pruning waste, along with pod husks and other field residues, are typically either burned or composted (van Vliet & Giller, 2017).

In their report "A Global Review of Cocoa Farming Systems", the International Cocoa Organization (ICCO) describes 5 major categories which is further divided into 11 systems of cacao farming (Daymond et al., 2022).

Table 1. Five major categories of cacao beans farming systems according to Daymond et al. (2022).

	Farm	Farming	Irrigat	Yield	Pesticide		Management			
Category	Size	System	ion	(t/ha)	Use	Fertilization	Practices	Market Type	Locations	
Large Plantation	>100 ha	Fertigated	Yes	1.5 - 2.5	Bulk	High use for pest control	High, through fertigation	Bulk	West Coast of Ecuador, Brazil, Dominican Republic	
		Non- irrigated	No	>1	Bulk, Fine Flavor	Moderate to high use depending on pests	High, synthetic fertilizers	Bulk, Fine Flavor	Java, Indonesia	
Medium Plantation	20 - 100 ha	Mixed Crop with Cocoa	No	0.6 - 1	1	Bulk	Moderate use, integrated pest management (IPM)	Bulk	Ivory Coast, Brazil, Ecuador	
Mixed Cropping		Intercropp ed Cocoa	No	0.6 - 1.2	1.2	Bulk	Moderate use, often IPM practices	Bulk	Ivory Coast, Brazil, Ecuador	
Structured Intercrop Small	~1 ha	Well- managed Intercrop, non- irrigated	No	1 - 1.5	1	1.5	Bulk (Unfermented/Fermen ted)	Bulk (Unfermented /Fermented)	Indonesia, Peru	
Holding		Irrigated Intercrop	Yes	0.525 - 0.95	Bulk Fermentati on	Low to moderate, IPM	Moderate, often organic	Bulk Fermentation	India	
Well- managed	1 - 5 ha	Full-sun Farms (CCN 51)	No	>1	No	>1	Bulk (Fermented)	Bulk (Fermented)	Ecuador	
Small Holding		Light shade	No	0.8 - 1.2	0.8	1.2	Bulk Fermented	Bulk Fermented	Ghana, Ivory Coast	
	Small to Mediu m		Cabruca- biodiverse shade	No	0.12 - 0.18	0.18	Bulk (Fermented/Unferm ented)	Low, due to natural biodiversity	Bulk (Fermented/U nfermented)	Brazil (Bahia), Costa Rica, Cameroon
Traditional Small Holding		Fine flavor producing	No	0.1 - 0.5	Fine Flavor	Low, minimal pesticide use	Low to none, minimal inputs	Fine Flavor	Ecuador	
Holding		Rustic- limited manageme nt	No	0.2 - 0.4	0.4	Bulk Fermented	Low, minimal pesticide use	Bulk Fermented	Ghana, Ivory Coast	

While precise estimation of the global distribution of cacao bean production across different production systems remains challenging, FAO provides comprehensive data on the leading cacao-producing countries (Table 2).

p					
Ranking	Row		Area harvested	Yield	
(Production)	Labels	Production (t)	(ha)	(t/ha)	
(			()	(9,114)	
1	Ivory	2230000	4397047	0.5072	
-	Coast	2200000		010072	
2	Ghana	1108662.93	2007417	0.5523	
2	<b>.</b>	667206	1 4 4 2 4 9 2	0.4626	
3	Indonesia	667296	1442403	0.4626	
4	Ecuador	337149.41	509179	0.6621	
5	Cameroon	300000	621611	0.4826	
6	Nigoria	280000	1020006	0 27/3	
0	Nigeria	200000	1020900	0.2743	
7	Brazil	273873	590232	0.464	
8	Peru	171176.75	177350	0.9652	
	Dominican				
9	Dominican	75900	2945	25.7764	
	керивііс				
10	Colombia	62158	185459	0.3352	
10	celembla	02100	100 100	0.0002	

Table 2. Top ten countries producing cacao beans in 2022 based on production quantities with corresponding area harvested and yield (FAOSTAT, 2023).

#### 2.3.8. Yield: Cacao Beans

Cacao productivity, measured by yield per unit area, exhibits significant variability across farms and from year to year. Six primary factors influencing on-farm productivity include the cultivated variety, soil quality, farming practices, farm age, abiotic elements (such as climate), and biotic elements (such as pests, diseases, weeds, and parasitic plants) (Deheuvels et al., 2012). These factors are interconnected. For instance, an improved variety may only achieve optimal yield in fertile soil and favorable climatic conditions, while effective control methods and farming practices can mitigate the impact of pests and diseases, especially when combined with the adoption of disease-resistant varieties (Daymond et al., 2022).

#### 2.3.9. Environmental Challenges: Cacao Beans

The cacao sector faces several challenges such as high yield losses due to pests and diseases, escalating deforestation, soil degradation and reduced water availability. Monocropping renders cacao trees vulnerable to pests such as Cocoa Swollen Shoot Virus (CSSV) and mirids. An estimated 30-40% of crops are lost to these infestations and diseases (Aikpokpodion, 2019). To combat this issue, farmers employ numerous pesticides, detrimental to both the environment and their health. For instance, the

government of Ghana provides fungal and pesticide application to the farmers through the COCOBOD board (Daymond et al., 2022). This practice adversely affects biodiversity, which is rapidly diminishing in numerous cocoa-producing areas. This poses a threat to cocoa production, as cocoa relies on insects for pollination (Arnold et al., 2018).

Kroeger et al. (2017) account that cacao cultivation is responsible for 1% of deforestation in the world from 1998 to 2008, amounting to 2 to 3 million hectares deforested. World Resources Institute (2019) also reports that Ivory Coast and Ghana, major cacao producers, reported 26% and 60% percent increase of primary forest loss over the period 2017 to 2018 (Figure 6). Expanding cacao farms and illegal mining were identified as significant contributors to massive primary forest loss in these countries (Weisse & Goldman, 2019). Within the cacao sector, it is reported that aging cacao trees (which produce lower yields), increasing market demand and insufficient investment in smallholder farmers (skills, finance and management related) are driving deforestation (Jennings et al., 2022).

BY TOTAL AREA BY PERCENT INCREASE FROM 2017\* Brazil 1,347,132 ha **Ghana** 60% DRC 481,248 ha Côte d'Ivoire 26% Indonesia 339,888 ha Papua New Guinea 22% Colombia 176,977 ha Angola 21% Bolivia 154,488 ha Suriname 12% Malaysia 144,571 ha Liberia 12% Peru 140,185 ha **Colombia** 9% Madagascar 94,785 ha Panama 4% Papua New Guinea 77,266 ha Tanzania 3% Cameroon 57,935 ha **DRC** 2% \*Only countries with more than 100,000 WORLD RESOURCES INSTITUTE hectares of primary forest included

Top 10 Countries Losing the Most Tropical Primary Rainforest in 2018

Figure 6. Top 10 countries with highest deforestation of tropical primary rainforest in 2018 (Weisse & Goldman, 2019).

Soil degradation is another reported issue in the sector. Without healthy soil, plants are unable to bear fruits abundantly and have weakened immune system (Kibblewhite et al., 2007). Subsequently, farmers are becoming more and more reliant on chemical inputs such as fertilizers to boost or maintain their yields while minimizing loss due to pests and diseases. Moreover, water is also becoming a pressing matter for cacao farmers. It is forecasted that some regions in West Africa will no longer be able to grow cacao due to less water availability (Schroth et al., 2016).

#### 2.3.10. Impact of Cacao Production on Climate Change

A study conducted by scientists from Wageningen University in the Netherlands estimated that the production of 1 kg of cacao beans in Ivory Coast produces 1.47 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e. Deforestation significantly contributed to greenhouse gas emissions, whereas tree biomass and residue management primarily facilitated carbon storage. The climate impact of cacao production is closely linked to farm management practices, particularly the number of shade trees and how residues are handled. Emissions calculated for good agricultural practices were 2.29 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e per kg of cacao beans. The increased emissions resulting from the use of additional agro-inputs and residue management practices, like burning residues for sanitary purposes, were not offset by higher yields (Vervuurt et al., 2022).

Conversion of forests to cacao farms, the burning of organic material (a prevalent practice in current cacao production), and the application of fertilizers are linked to greenhouse gas emissions (Ledo et al., 2018). In contrast, perennial crops like cacao have the ability to sequester carbon in their aboveground biomass (Dawoe et al., 2016; Schroth et al., 2016) and contribute to soil carbon through plant roots and litter, which decompose and later becomes soil organic carbon (Ledo et al., 2018).

## 2.3.11. Potential Impact of Climate Change on Paddy Rice and Cacao Production

Climate change affects agriculture by altering precipitation patterns as well as rainfall intensity and distribution. Farmers are compelled to adjust cropping patterns due to delayed monsoons, heightened drought frequency, and increased pest and disease occurrences (Mushtaq et al., 2013).

The primary impact of climate change on rice production is evident in shifts in water resources (Adusumilli et al., 2017). Subtropical regions are anticipated to experience decreased precipitation, with a potential increase in extreme events, thus diminishing water availability for rice farming. Concrete measures are imperative to conserve water

and enhance water utilization efficiency (Schroth et al., 2016). Moreover, changes in temperature and ocean levels can profoundly impact rice cultivation. Raised temperatures may diminish rice yields in tropical regions, while altered rainfall patterns could increase the frequency and severity of floods and droughts (Toriyama et al., 2005). On the other hand, increasing sea levels may expand the areas affected by tidal surges, particularly in low-lying floodplains and river deltas where various rice cultivation methods are prevalent, notably in East Asia, Southeast Asia, and South Asia. To ensure sustainable rice production amidst climate change, ongoing advancements in rice varieties will likely be essential in addition to the mentioned strategies (FAO, 2024).

Similar to the rice sector, cacao cultivation is also expected to be negatively impacted by rising temperatures and decreasing precipitation, particularly in West Africa (Ofori-Boateng & Insah, 2014).

Schroth et al. (2016) reports that climate change may lead to a substantial reduction in the regions suitable for cocoa farming in West Africa, which currently accounts for 65% of global production. This decline is expected to be caused to a higher extent by drying conditions than a temperature rise of approximately 2°C by 2050 (Schroth et al., 2016). With less suitable land for cocoa cultivation due to drying phenomena, the West African region is expected to encounter challenges in establishing new plantations while facing high mortality rates of young trees (Wessel & Quist-Wessel, 2015). On top of these, there are also risks of increased occurrence of pests and diseases as warmer temperatures and altered precipitation can promote black pod disease, cocoa pod borer and frosty pod rot (Walters, 2021). Consequently, farmers would have to enhance their pest and disease management strategies (Cilas & Bastide, 2020). This is particularly relevant as cacao farmers today lose approximately 30 to 40% of their yield to pests and diseases according to "A Global Review of Cacao Farming Systems" (Daymond et al., 2022).

#### 2.3.12. Agricultural Interventions

Agricultural interventions are specific actions or strategies that target particular challenges and aim achieve specific goals in agricultural systems (Westermann et al., 2018). In this paper, interventions refer to actions targeted to attain climate mitigation or decarbonization goals. McKinsey & Company (2023) identified several agricultural interventions for crops such as paddy rice and cacao beans (Figure 7). Despite a wide array of proposed agricultural interventions in literature, selecting and applying the most suitable interventions while minimizing costs and increasing adoption rates are key to the effectiveness of the applied interventions in reducing emissions and adverse effects on the environment (Moore & Boldero, 2017). Factors such as type of crop, climate, soil,

water requirements and availability amongst others must be carefully considered (McKinsey & Company, 2023).



Figure 7. Venn diagram of agricultural interventions available for paddy rice and cacao beans sector.

## 2.3.13. Significance of the Study

With agriculture contributing substantially to global emissions through the procurement of goods for various industries (particularly for food and beverage sectors), targeted strategies are essential to meet emission reduction goals while ensuring sustainable food production. By identifying emission hotspots and proposing specific mitigation measures tailored to rice and cocoa production in major producing countries, this master's thesis aims to inform effective interventions that reconcile food security with environmental sustainability.

Furthermore, this study offers valuable insights for climate roadmaps that are commodity- and/or country-specific. A climate roadmap is a quantitative and visual tool demonstrating the impact reduction potential of various interventions for a specific sector or organization (e.g., company) to address targets, such as net zero emissions by 2050 (Loboguerrero Rodriguez et al., 2018). Therefore, this research study

contributes to urgent climate change concerns through emphasizing the significance of integrated, sector-specific solutions in achieving global climate mitigation targets by 2050.

## 2.3.14. Objectives

As of today, there is a lack of insights on how specific commodity or crop sectors can achieve net-zero emissions by 2050 to be in line with the 1.5°C pathway. By evaluating the main sources of emissions on farm level, agricultural interventions that are most relevant, economically feasible and have high GHG abatement potential can be determined to help reduce emissions on the path to net zero. Moreover, this master's thesis seeks to fill in the knowledge gap regarding climate concerns within two critical agricultural sectors: paddy rice (annual crop) in India and cacao (perennial crop) in Ivory Coast. Therefore, this paper aims to (1) thoroughly evaluate GHG emissions and determine the main sources (hotspots) of these emissions, (2) and identify agricultural interventions with significant GHG reduction potential, (3) and evaluate the costs and barriers associated to the implementation of the interventions. Through these objectives, the paper aims to offer actionable insights for fostering resilient and sustainable agricultural practices while assessing the feasibility of each action, thereby illuminating the reduction potentials and priorities for 2050 in the face of climate change.

## 3.METHODOLOGY

## 3.1. System boundary

Fundamentally, this study employs a Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) approach to systematically analyze the principal sources of emissions from the two selected sectors and identify pertinent and effective mitigation strategies. The system boundary of this study is **cradle-to-farm gate**, which includes the evaluation of the climate impacts associated with the procurement of agricultural commodities – from the extraction of raw materials and inputs (cradle) up to the point where the commodity leaves the farm (farm gate). This approach assesses all stages included in the agricultural production, i.e., soil preparation, sowing, cultivation, fertilization, irrigation, pest control and harvesting. However, it does not encompass subsequent phases of processing (e.g., milling of paddy rice to remove the hull and transformation of cacao beans into chocolate), packaging, distribution, or use. Thus, this study provides an analysis of the climate impact of rice production in India and cacao production in Ivory Coast up to the stage where the agricultural commodities are ready to be moved for processing or distribution.

Furthermore, unlike life cycle assessments which includes many other indicators, this paper focuses exclusively on climate change impact (i.e., EF 3.1). In LCA, this impact category (climate change) assesses the potential GHG emissions (usually measured in CO<sub>2</sub> equivalents) and their contribution to global warming potential (GWP). It is not part of the scope to include other impact categories such as water depletion, fossil depletion, ecotoxicity and so on. Hence, the discussion is centered on greenhouse gas emissions. Nevertheless, co-benefits and tradeoffs with nature will be discussed.

## 3.2. Data collection

According to the IPCC's 4th assessment report, an emission factor (EF) refers to the emission rate per unit of activity, output, or input. It is a coefficient quantifying the ratio between the amount of pollution generated and a measure of activity linked to the pollutant released. For instance, a specific fossil fuel power plant has a CO<sub>2</sub>e emission factor of 0.568 kilograms per kilowatt-hour produced (IPCC, 2007b). In this study, EFs were expressed in CO<sub>2</sub>e per kilogram of the agricultural commodity produced, i.e., 1 kg of paddy rice (with a standard water content necessary for storage: 13.1%) or 1 kg of cacao beans (with a standard water content of 5.6%). The EFs of paddy rice were based on data from 2016 to 2022, whereas those of cacao beans are from 2007 to 2017.
Emission factor data including production methods, energy inputs, land use, fertilizer application and other relevant contributors to the emissions were collected from Quantis's World Food Land and Agriculture Database (WFLDB v3.9). It is their most up to date database dedicated to food, land and agriculture. Over a span of more than 12 years, this database has been collaboratively developed in partnership with leading companies in the food and beverage industry. The methodology employed to generate these emission factors is elaborated in the "WFLDB Methodological Guidelines for the Life Cycle Inventory of Agricultural Products" (Nemecek et al., 2023).

To specify, the data collected for this study encompass secondary emission factors (EF) for agricultural and food-related products. While primary emission factors are based on specific activities in the value chain of a company, secondary emission factors are not specific to the company's value chain (Barrow et al., 2013). The study only focused on datasets specific to agricultural commodities, such as paddy rice grain and sun-dried cacao beans. Other components of the plants, such as straws, shells, and husks, were not included as they were beyond the study's scope.

## 3.3. Identification of key drivers of emissions

After importing the EF datasets, the exchanges (input and outputs occurring within or between the system) comprising the EF that were relevant to agricultural (on-farm) emissions were selected and categorized as contributors (e.g., tillage, machinery, seeds, direct emissions, land use change, etc.) as shown in Table 4 in the appendix. In this paper seeking to analyze emissions factors, contributors are defined as any activity, source or factor that contributes to the total emissions of a specific greenhouse gas or pollutant.

The principal contributors to the emissions within cacao and rice production systems were identified using contribution plots. For example, these plots can show what percentage share of paddy rice emissions at farm level are due to irrigation or methane field emissions. The emission factors were broken down into contributors, e.g., field emissions, land use change, fertilizers production, etc.

The rice EF exclusively considers flooded paddy rice production systems, i.e. assumes 100% paddy rice fields. In the case of India, the second-largest rice producer in the world, another consulting firm estimated that 80% of rice fields practice continuous flooding resulting in high methane emissions (McKinsey & Company, 2022).

Due to copyrights concerns, the absolute EF of each country available in the database could not be revealed, except for the EF of paddy rice cultivation in India and the EF of cacao beans production in Ivory Coast.

# 3.4. Identification of most relevant agricultural interventions

Based on the findings of the preceding step, several agricultural interventions were established for each crop. Their GHG abatement potential were based on extensive literature review. Criteria for selecting agricultural interventions are GHG abatement potential, applicability and economic feasibility. Barriers to implementation of each intervention was also considered.

# **4.RESULTS**

This section of the paper is dedicated to analyzing and comparing emissions factors (EF) within the paddy rice and cacao beans sectors according to the available data. Examining EFs not only provides insights about the intensity of emissions of a production system (e.g., agroforestry vs non-agroforestry in cacao beans) but also an understanding of the main contributors to the emission from cradle-to-farm gate. Through the identification of the hotspots or main contributors in rice and cacao beans production, it is possible to determine the agricultural interventions that has higher GHG abatement potential at the farm level.

# 4.1. Paddy rice



## 4.1.1. Overview and contribution analysis of paddy rice EF

Figure 8. Contributors to paddy rice emission factors (EF) in Brazil (BR), Chile (CL), China (CN), India (IN), Italy (IT), Mexico (MX), Pakistan (PK) and the United Sates (US) expressed in percentage share of the EF (%).



Figure 9. Breakdown of the emissions related to fertilizer production in paddy rice cultivation in Brazil (BR), Chile (CL), China (CN), India (IN), Italy (IT), Mexico (MX), Pakistan (PK) and the United Sates (US) expressed in percentage share (%).

With an average of **63%** share of the total EF value across the eight countries in the dataset, the main contributor to paddy rice cultivation emissions is **direct emissions** from the field (Figure 8). China had the lowest share coming from direct emissions at 46% while Brazil had the highest share at 84%. India is closer to the average at around 66%. Direct emissions associated with rice farming are methane and nitrous oxides. Flooded (paddy) rice fields are conducive to anaerobic microbial pathways, leading to emissions (Holzapfel-Pschorn & Seiler, 1986). On the other hand, the application of nitrogen fertilizers increases the availability of substrates for both nitrification and denitrification, thus, leading to higher production of nitrous oxide in flooded paddy fields (Pittelkow et al., 2013).

The second main contributor is **machinery** with an average of **15%**. Countries that had significantly higher share of their emissions attributed to machinery – with at least 20% share – include Chile, Italy, US and Mexico. In contrast, Brazil (9%), China (5%) and India (3%) had much lower shares from machinery, indicating that rice farming in these countries relies more on human labor and less on machinery. In rice cultivation, machineries are typically used for field preparation, sowing, fertilization, harvesting and irrigation (Nemecek et al., 2023). According to the WFLDB methodology for modeling emission factors (EFs), greater use of machinery

is linked to increased productivity and higher yields (Nemecek et al., 2023). For instance, the US yields more than 10 000 kg/ha of rice while India yields around 6 000 kg/ha. Regarding WFLDB rice EFs, carbon footprint of machineries is predominantly due to combustion of fossil fuel (i.e., diesel) and only marginally due to the production of the machinery itself. For soil preparation, sowing, fertilization, harvesting.

At third rank is irrigation with an average of 12%. India and China had higher shares of their emissions linked to irrigation, at 21% and 30% respectively. Meanwhile, Pakistan and Brazil had the lowest shares at 2% and 4% respectively. Italy, Mexico and Chile were closer to the average with 10 to 11% share. The inclusion of irrigation among the top three hotspots in rice cultivation underscores the elevated water demands of rice production. The International Rice Research Institute (IRRI) reports an average of 2 500 L of water to grow 1 kg paddy rice. The reported variability in their studies is high, ranging from a minimum of 800 L to a maximum of 5000 L consumed by rice farming systems (IRRI, 2009). Schreier (2014) reported a narrower threshold for the water requirements of rice: 1900 to 4000 L of water per kg of paddy rice. Bouman (2002) reported that 1 kg of rice cultivated under a system that transplants rice seedlings in puddled soil requires between 3000 and 5000 L of water. Rice requires a lot of water because traditional cultivation systems involve flooding the fields, i.e., paddy fields. Additionally, rice plants have high transpiration rates and need substantial water input at different growth stages (Bouman, 2009).

**Fertilizer production** is a contributor that is closely tied to direct emissions, particularly due to nitrous oxides emissions following N fertilization. It is shown as a separate category to demonstrate impact of the upstream (manufacturing) side of fertilizers to climate change. With an average of **5%**, (nitrogen, potassium and phosphorus or N-P-K) fertilizer production emerges as fourth major contributor to paddy rice emissions. In India, fertilizer production (7%) is a more significant contributor than machinery.

Despite the higher percentage share of fertilizer production in Asian countries, e.g., India, China and Pakistan (7 to 14%) compared to American and European nations (~ 2%), it does not necessarily imply that they use more fertilizers per kg of paddy rice. However, it can be deduced from Figures 9 that the contribution of N fertilizers to the emissions is significantly higher than that of P and K fertilizers in paddy rice.

40

This finding that N is the greatest sources of emissions among various types of fertilizers is not unexpected as it is the main fertilizer used to boost crop production (Frink et al., 1999). In rice farming, it has been a common practice to incorporate high quantities of fertilizers, especially N-based ones, to boost yields since the green revolution (Kumar & Katagami, 2016). Although P and K fertilization (direct emissions and production) contributes less to GHG emissions, they also negatively impact the environment through surface and groundwater pollution and soil pollution (Ladha et al., 2016; Adusumilli et al., 2017; Khan et al., 2018).

**LUC** with **4%** comes at fifth ranking. It considers emissions associated with the conversion of forests and peatland to paddy rice fields. However, the indicated average of LUC was primarily influenced by Pakistan, as LUC was not a significant contributor for most other countries in the dataset (Figure 8). The remaining contributors include seed production and pesticides application.

Overall, the main contributors to paddy rice field production are (1) direct emissions, driven by methane and nitrous oxides; (2) machinery, particularly in mechanized countries like Chile and the US; and (3) irrigation.

As for India, its top three contributors are **direct emissions (66%)**, **irrigation (21%) and fertilizer production (7%)**. The EF of paddy rice production in India is approximately 1.5 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/ kg paddy rice. It implies that direct emissions are linked to 0.98 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/ kg paddy rice, while irrigation and fertilizer production are associated with 0.32 and 0.11 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/ kg paddy rice, respectively.

While these areas represent the primary emission hotspots in paddy rice cultivation, they also offer significant opportunities for mitigation of GHG emissions. For instance, there are alternative water management techniques targeting the reduction of direct emissions from the paddy fields.



# 4.1.2. Gas split of paddy rice EF

Figure 10. Breakdown of paddy rice emission factors into various types of gases in the following countries: Brazil (BR), Chile (CL), China (CN), India (IN), Italy (IT), Mexico (MX), Pakistan (PK) and the United Sates (US) expressed in percentage share of the EF (%). Other gas category includes HFCs, PFCs, SF6 and NF3.

The quantitative composition and main contributing GHG emitted to the atmosphere by rice farming varies depending according to the country. However, the top 3 most significant gases in terms of share are methane (biogenic), nitrous oxide and carbon dioxide (fossil fuel) as demonstrated in Figure 10.

According to the Ministry of Environment of New Zealand, biogenic methane is generated by biological sources (e.g., plant, animal and microorganisms), and is emitted by wetlands, waste treatment and livestock. In contrast, fossil methane emissions releases back into the atmosphere the geological carbon stored below ground for millions of years. Since rice paddy fields are wetlands, they are sources of biogenic methane emissions (Neue & Sass, 1994).

In India, methane (biogenic) comes first at 62% of its total EF value. Carbon dioxide (fossil fuel) comes second at 30% share while nitrous oxide comes third at 5%. After analyzing the exchanges (input and outputs occurring within or between the system) comprising rice EFs, it was found biogenic CH<sub>4</sub> emissions are primarily driven by the

sowing, growth and development of rice seeds in flooded paddy rice fields (i.e., seeds category). On the other hand, the key drivers of CO<sub>2</sub> fossil emissions are the diesel-powered surface and sprinkler irrigation, production of N-P-K fertilizers (particularly, urea, diammonium phosphate and ammonium nitrate phosphate) in the plant, machinery, pesticides and so on. Similarly, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were propelled mainly by N fertilizer production, diesel-powered irrigation, sowing, growth and development of rice seeds in flooded paddy rice fields. This aligns with the findings that N<sub>2</sub>O emissions peak during early growth stages of the rice crop, especially right after fertilization (Sass, 2007). Although at a lower extent, machinery also contributes to N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. This could help explain why western countries (e.g., such as the US, Brazil and Chile) that use more machineries to cultivate rice had higher share of nitrous oxides compared to India and China. In contrast, the high quantities of rice seeds planted, and the subsequent water and chemical input requirements drive the shares of biogenic methane and fossil carbon in India and China.

Identifying which types of gases primarily contribute to rice EF is crucial since not all gases are created equal. Based on the global warming potential spanning 100 years (GWP<sub>100</sub>), CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O are 25 and 298 times more potent as a greenhouse gas than carbon dioxide (IPCC, 2007a). This helps decision-makers and policymakers prioritize and focus efforts on maximizing emission abatement, especially when time and budget are limited.

### 4.2. Cacao beans

There are several cacao beans EFs modelled according to following production systems:

- Agroforestry is broadly defined, with a portion of shade trees being native forest species and others, like Gliricidia, being planted. In the "agroforestry" cocoa farming model described here, most of these trees are not valued economically but instead offer various ecosystem services.
- Extreme high input farms are typically larger cocoa farms that incorporate irrigation, use advanced planting materials, and apply one tonne or more of fertilizer per hectare. These farms also practice mechanical pruning and achieve yields of 1.5 tonnes or more of cocoa beans per hectare. It is estimated that 10-15% of South America's cocoa production comes from these high input farms, while in Indonesia, they account for only about 5% of total production.
- Improved farms are defined as those that adhere to the official recommendations by the government for the quantities of fertilizers and pesticides applied, leading to a yield increase of approximately 150 kg/ha.

- Low input farms have minimal to moderate shade that lack substantial organization. Many of these farmers apply little to no fertilizers and pesticides, with the modeled scenario reflecting an average condition.
- Medium input, intercropping farms represents typical cocoa farms in South America and Indonesia. These farms utilize higher amounts of fertilizer compared to those in West Africa and cultivate additional crops like fruits, coconut, or rubber trees alongside cocoa. These intercropped trees, which provide light to medium shade, have economic value either for the farmer's use or for sale.
- Production mix represents the mix of production systems present in each country based on weighted average cacao market, i.e., considering the total production shares from cacao farming systems utilizing agroforestry, low/medium/extremely high input methods and improved agricultural practices.

For the analyses of cacao beans EF, the focus is on production mix datasets.

It should be noted that none of these datasets (including agroforestry) from WFLDB took into account carbon removal in contrast to the those presented earlier in literature review. This is because WFLDB is meant to be used for corporate inventory accounting, and secondary EF (i.e., not specific to the company's value chain) are insufficient to meet Greenhouse Gas Protocol (GHGP)'s reporting criteria for removals of the. GHGP is a global framework for measuring, accounting and managing GHG emissions from public and private sector value chains, operations, and mitigation actions (GHGP, 2024).

Moreover, it is difficult to accurately estimate the amount of carbon captured at country level since agroforestry is defined broadly and the sequestration depends on so many factors such as species, age or size, lifespan of the shade tree (Ramachandran Nair et al., 2010).





Figure 11. Contribution analysis of the cacao beans production mix emission factor (EF) of Brazil (BR), Ivory Coast (CI), Cameroon (CM), Ecuador (EC), Ghana (GH), Indonesia (ID) expressed in percentage share of the EF (%).

Analyzing the production mix datasets from Figure 11, the top contributor to the GHG emissions of cacao beans is **land use change (LUC)** with an average of **66%**. Ivory Coast with 94% represents the maximum share while Brazil with 36% shows the lowest share in the dataset.

**Biowaste management** is the second main driver of emissions with an average of **23%**. Even though the biowaste management share appears to vary between countries, the absolute value was constant (~1.9 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg cacao beans) across the countries. Only approximately 5% of Ivory Coast's cacao beans EF can be traced back to this contributor due to the massive impact of LUC in this country.

**Direct emissions (4%)** and **fertilizer production (4%)** emerge as third main contributors to cacao beans farm-level emissions. The share of these two contributors were higher in Brazil and Ecuador due to lower rates of LUC or deforestation. In contrast, these contributors along with others are dwarfed by LUC in countries with high rates of LUC such as Ivory Coast. Moreover, it should be noted that the relationship between direct field emissions (via fertilizer application), and upstream fertilizer production

emissions is interdependent. An increase in nitrogen fertilizer application results in higher field emissions and necessitates greater fertilizer production, consequently elevating upstream production emissions.

**Orchard maintenance** (corresponding to the emissions associated with the procurement of cacao tree seedling) and **irrigation** each contribute **1%** to the average emissions of production mix systems across the countries in the dataset.

It was also observed in Figure 12 that while land use change refers to deforestation in most of the cacao-producing countries, there is also some peatland degradation and conversion in Cameroon (1%), Brazil (2%), Ecuador (2%) and particularly Indonesia (65%) where there are more peatlands (Osaki et al., 2016).



# 4.2.2. Impact of land use change (LUC) on cacao beans EF

Figure 12. Breakdown of land use change-related emissions of production mix emission factors of cacao cultivation in Brazil (BR), Ivory Coast (CI), Cameroon (CM), Ecuador (EC), Ghana (GH), Indonesia (ID) expressed in percentage share (%).





Figure 13. Emission factors of various types of cacao beans production systems in Ivory Coast (a) with and (b) without land use change. Cacao EFs are based on data from 2007 to 2017.

Among all the countries presented in Figure 11, Ivory Coast production systems have the highest land use change share and the highest EF value. For example, the highest EF value in the dataset is 36.8 kg  $CO_2e/$  kg cacao beans (agroforestry system in Ivory Coast) whereas the lowest EF values are around 4.0 to 4.5 kg  $CO_2e/$  kg cacao beans.

Based on Figures 11 and 13a, Ivory Coast's main contributor is land use change (LUC), accounting for an estimated 91% to 94% of its total EF depending on the production system. Due to this contributor's significant impact, the variation (approximately 11 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/ kg cacao beans) among the production systems is determined solely by the amount of LUC considered per production system. Hence, it is not possible to distinguish the impact of production system and its associated agricultural practices on the emissions due to overwhelming impact of LUC the EF of cacao in Ivory Coast.

The impact of LUC on cacao beans production in Ivory Coast is further highlighted in Figure 13. Without LUC, the EF of the production systems drops from double-digit-values to single digits. For example, an agroforestry system has an average of 37 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg cacao beans with land use drops to around 2 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg cacao beans without it. Therefore, efforts must be focused on eradicating deforestation in cacao production, particularly in Ivory Coast.

LUC refers to the transformation of natural land, particularly carbon-rich areas such as forests in Western Africa, into agricultural land for cocoa production. Due to high demand for cocoa, deforestation pressure is significant, leading to substantial carbon loss as these forests are converted into cocoa farms (Ruf et al., 2015; Asubonteng et al., 2018; Acheampong et al., 2019; Hawkins et al., 2024). A similar situation occurs with the conversion of peatlands in specific regions like Indonesia (Osaki et al., 2016).

Figure 13b illustrates that without LUC, biowaste is the second largest contributor to the EFs of Ivory Coast. Biowaste treatment is associated to 5% to 7% of the total EF of Ivory Coast as shown in Figure 10. In cacao datasets, biowaste emissions stem from waste management practices. In contrast to rice, this contributor is particularly significant in cacao production due to the decomposition of husks and shells left in the fields after harvest. There are two types of biowaste management incorporated into the emission factors: (1) via non-aerated heap, husks, wet tropical conditions and (2) via spreading on field, pulp, wet tropical conditions. The climate change impact of the non-aerated biowaste management is 8 times the value of that under aerobic conditions. This highlights the impact of waste management practices on overall emissions and suggests that adopting more efficient methods could reduce the environmental footprint of cocoa production. Other methods that could lower emissions of biowaste management in cacao production include aerated composting of heaps, husks, etc. as well as transforming the agricultural by-products into biochar (Ferry et al., 2022).

### 4.2.3. Fertilizer-related emissions of cacao beans cultivation



Figure 14. Breakdown of the emissions related to fertilizer production in cacao beans cultivation in Brazil (BR), Ivory Coast (CI), Cameroon (CM), Ecuador (EC), Ghana (GH), Indonesia (ID) expressed in percentage share (%).

In general, emissions due to direct emissions (following fertilizer application) and fertilizer production are comparatively modest in cocoa production (perennial crop) compared to paddy rice (annual crop), as it is a low-intensity commodity that requires minimal inputs (Chapman et al., 2022).

Furthermore, Figure 14 illustrates that the application of fertilizers in cacao farms is more heterogenous compared to rice where nitrogen fertilizer was the most significant contributor across the countries under study (Figure 9). For instance, more than 75% of the fertilizer-related emissions in Brazil, Ecuador and Indonesia is attributed to nitrogen fertilizer production. On the other hand, this contributor was 0% in Cameroon and barely 12% in Ivory Coast. West African countries in the dataset have higher emissions related to the production of phosphorus and potassium fertilizers rather than nitrogen. It could be that their soils are poor in nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium.

Additionally, Ivory Coast and Cameroon have over 30% of their fertilizer carbon footprint coming from a category called fertilizers, others. It was found that these emissions are due to the utilization of sulfites to cacao beans in these countries.

Technically, sulfite compounds are not fertilizers, but rather are likely applied to prevent oxidation and browning of the cacao beans as they are transported to destination markets, e.g., Europe. This finding aligns with reports indicating that these countries are known for exporting unfermented beans (Daymond et al., 2022).



### 4.2.4. Gas split of cacao beans EF

Figure 15. Breakdown of cacao beans (production mix) emission factors into various types of gases in the following countries: Brazil (BR), Ivory Coast (CI), Cameroon (CM), Ecuador (EC), Ghana (GH), Indonesia (ID) expressed in percentage share (%). Other gas category includes HFCs, PFCs, SF6 and NF3.

Since LUC is the highest contributor to the EF of cacao beans based on previous discussions, **CO<sub>2</sub> land transformation** makes up the majority of the type of gas emitted into the atmosphere. This is followed by **CH<sub>4</sub> biogenic** mostly due to the anaerobic degradation of the biowastes such as coconut husk and heap (via non-aerated heap, husks, wet tropical conditions and (2) via spreading on field, pulp, wet tropical conditions). **N<sub>2</sub>O** is also emitted in cacao production arising from biowastes and application of N-P-K fertilizers. CO<sub>2</sub> fossil is also a significant contributor arising from all the inputs (fertilizers, pesticides, lime, etc.) and other processes related to cacao cultivation such as seedling production (orchard maintenance) and machinery.

# 5. DISCUSSION OF RESULTS

# 5.1. Paddy rice EF – India

### Comparing paddy rice EF in India to literature

The EF of rice in India according to WFLDB is 1.5 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg paddy rice or 9.3 tCO<sub>2</sub>e/ha. This EF was modelled with an average yield of 6250 kg paddy rice/ ha. There are several studies that tried to model the EF of rice in India, although most of them are specific to a rice-producing state in the country. Pathak et al. (2005) modelled the GHG emissions using field experiments data in New Delhi and provided a range of EF values associated with continuously flooded rice fields (3.1 to 6.5 tCO<sub>2</sub>e/ha) and intermittently flooded rice fields (2.2 to 5.0 tCO<sub>2</sub>e/ha). Sinha et al. (2020) estimated that a paddy rice-wheat (PW) production system in the middle Indo-Gangetic plains releases 3.4 tCO<sub>2</sub>e/ha/y while a paddy rice-potato-fallow (PP) system emits 5.1 tCO<sub>2</sub>e/ha/y. A more recent study by Ranguwal et al. (2022) calculated the carbon footprint of rice in Punjab state and found it to be 6.34 tCO<sub>2</sub>e/ha.

Differences in calculated EF values are likely due to varying methodology, scope and embedded emission factors (e.g., EF for inputs). However, EFs are notably variable, often leading to significant uncertainty in the results. Walling & Vaneeckhaute (2020) investigated the sources of variability in EFs of fertilizer production and usage. They identified the following factors: energy sources used in production, operational conditions, storage, crop and soil types, soil nutrient levels, quantity and method of fertilizer application, soil bacterial communities, and irrigation methods. Furthermore, they noted that knowledge gaps exist regarding EFs for potassium fertilizers and waste valorization processes (anaerobic digestion/composting).

In addition, all the mentioned publications showed less granularity in their input data compared to WFLDB EFs. For India in particular, WFLDB incorporated 63 exchanges (inputs and outputs). This potentially more comprehensive and rigorous approach could explain why WFLDB EF is higher than those in published literature. Finally, neither the WFLDB EFs (methodology document) nor the reviewed publications evaluated the uncertainty of their results; hence, complicating the assessment of whether there are significant differences in the rice EF values based on their uncertainty levels.

For now, it can be deduced that WFLDB EF estimate the EF of paddy rice to be significantly higher than those available in literature, indicating a more comprehensive and/or conservative approach taken by the former.

### Comparing the main contributors to the paddy rice EF in India to literature

The key insights regarding the contributors to the environmental footprint of rice cultivation in India reveal some variability across different studies. Based on the contribution analysis of WFLDB EF, direct emissions are identified as the primary contributors, accounting for 66% of the paddy rice EF in India, followed by irrigation (21%), fertilizer production (7%). However, Sinha et al. (2020) reported that fertilizer production was the top contributor to both the PW and PP systems, followed by direct N<sub>2</sub>O soil emissions on the farm. Ranguwal et al. (2022) provided a breakdown showing CH<sub>4</sub> emissions as the largest contributor (60.7%), followed by electricity for irrigation (17.9%), N2O emissions (10.8%), plant protection chemicals (7.5%), diesel (6.1%), and fertilizers (3.0%). In their study, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions combined made up 70.5% of the EF, closely aligning with the 66% direct emissions identified in the contribution analysis.

Sridhara et al. (2023) examined rice cultivation in Karnataka state in India and found CH<sub>4</sub> emissions (48%) and fertilizers (23%) as the major contributors, with irrigation being the leading energy consumer. Similarly, Odegard et al. (2015) and Jahangir et al. (2023) identified soil emissions, particularly CH<sub>4</sub>, as the major contributors to the high GHG emissions of rice crops, with CH<sub>4</sub> emissions accounting for 50 to 80% of the total GHG emissions in rice-based systems in Bangladesh. These studies collectively emphasize the significant impact of direct emissions, irrigation, and fertilizer use on the environmental footprint of rice cultivation.

## 5.2. Interventions for the paddy rice sector in India

Both the results of this study (i.e., contributions analysis of WFLFB EF – paddy rice in India) and literature review pointed direct soil or field emissions as the leading contributor to the emissions of rice production. Therefore, it is appropriate to focus on the source of these direct soil emissions – flooded paddy rice fields. There have been many studies conducted in the recent years about the application of paddy water management regimes such as alternate wetting and drying (AWD) and direct rice seeding (DRS) in various rice-producing countries.

### Alternate wetting and drying (AWD)

AWD is a method employed by lowland paddy rice farmers to conserve water in irrigated fields. This technique involves intermittently flooding the field and then letting it dry for a specific period after the standing water has vanished, thus switching between flooded and dry states (IRRI, 2020).

Most studies about AWD in literature report an overall reduction in GHG emissions, despite an increase in N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. This is mainly because the majority of the GWP of rice production is due to CH<sub>4</sub> emissions resulting from continuous flooding (Linquist et al., 2012). A study in Tami Nadu, India by Oo et al. (2018) found that adopting AWD across different rice varieties during dry and wet season in this region in India reduced CH<sub>4</sub> emissions by 52.8% to 61.4% and increased N<sub>2</sub>O emissions by 77% compared with continuous flooding. They noted an overall GWP reduction of 16 to 59% when rice was grown under AWD. Another study by Sriphirom & Rossopa (2023) reported a 48.2% reduction in GHG emissions when AWD at 15 cm below soil surface of drainage level was applied in rice fields in Thailand. AWD decreased the GWP of rice cultivation by more than 50% in their study. Meta-analyses of AWD studies in China by Jiang et al. (2019) reported 53% reduction in CH<sub>4</sub> while raising N<sub>2</sub>O emissions by 105 %. However, AWD still decreased the GWP of rice by 44%. Finally, a meta-analysis of 437 literature sources encompassing 93% of rice production in the world by Gao et al. (2024) showed a 47% reduction in CH<sub>4</sub>, 52% increase in N<sub>2</sub>O but 39% reduction in GWP brought by AWD. Despite the added N2O emissions, these studies demonstrated that the global warming potential of rice can still be significantly reduced through AWD practices.

Contrary to previous studies which showed lower  $CH_4$  emissions yet accompanied by higher N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Lagomarsino et al., 2016; Islam et al., 2018; Abid et al., 2019; Balaine et al., 2019; Wu et al., 2022), Loaiza et al. (2024) concluded that AWD decreased N<sub>2</sub>O emissions by 12 to 70% with minimum impact on the productivity of the crop. They tested AWD in Colombian rice fields for four consecutive growing seasons (i.e., 2 years) and evaluated the systems' GHG emissions. They found that compared to the control, AWD treatments decreased cumulative CH<sub>4</sub> emissions by 72% to 100%. The reduction was attributed to soil moisture management during events of fertilizer application. Unlike most other studies comparing AWD to continuous flooding, both the control and AWD plots in this study experienced non-continuous flooding, especially during fertilizer application in the first two months of the growing season. In contrast, continuous flooding keeps the soil anaerobic (without oxygen), which leads to complete denitrification and very low  $N_2O$  emissions. In these conditions, any drainage tends to increase  $N_2O$  losses because it introduces oxygen, thus resulting to enhanced  $N_2O$ production in the other studies. In addition, Loaiza et al. (2024) studied AWD on sandy loamy soils, which supported more rapid drainage compared to clay soils. This is supported by the study of Lagomarsino et al. (2016). They showed that concentrated on clay soils discovered that AWD decreased water consumption by 70% and  $CH_4$ emissions by 97% but caused a fivefold increase in  $N_2O$  emissions in clay-textured soils. Therefore, AWD in rice cultivation has the potential to not only decrease CH<sub>4</sub> emissions

significantly but also reduce those of  $N_2O$  depending on the soil type and soil moisture management.

Nevertheless, impact on water resources, yield, and biodiversity and should also be considered before implementing AWD. For instance, Gao et al. (2024) revealed that AWD lowers irrigation water usage by 34% and boosts water use efficiency, irrigation water use efficiency, and water productivity by 20%, 48%, and 30%, respectively. Nonetheless, there is a slight reduction in yield by 1.6%. While more studies should be carried out to determine the impact of AWD on biodiversity, it is essential to evaluate other co-benefits or tradeoffs with nature when implementing pro-climate interventions.

### Dry direct seeded rice (DDSR)

Dry direct seeded rice (DDSR) is an agricultural practice where rice is sown directly into tilled or untilled soil without the need for puddling or transplanting (Kumar & Katagami, 2016). On the contrary, rice-transplanting, the common modern practice, involves growing rice plants in a nursery bed before moving them to the paddy field where they grow until they are ready for harvest (Ngo et al., 2019). In addition to reduced water demand, the adoption of DDSR could significantly impact methane emissions since DDSR fields are not continuously submerged in water (Pathak et al., 2013). Thus, DDSR presents a viable option for conserving both water and labor while reducing direct field emissions.

Key insights from various studies highlight the potential of DDSR as an effective intervention for reducing GHG emissions in rice cultivation. Pathak et al. (2013) conducted a two-year field trial in Punjab, India, revealing that DDSR could reduce the global warming potential (GWP) by 33% compared to transplanted rice (TPR), with emissions ranging from 1.3 to 2.9 t CO<sub>2</sub>e/ha for DDSR versus 2.0 to 4.6 t CO<sub>2</sub>e/ha for TPR. Additionally, DDSR required significantly fewer irrigations (volume), reduced human labor by 45%, and tractor usage by 58%, without compromising yield. Similarly, Susilawati et al. (2019) observed a 47% reduction in CH<sub>4</sub> emissions averaging 187 kg/ha/season versus 352 kg/ha/season for TPR. The study also noted that DDSR had a 46.4% lower GWP than TPR, with no significant difference in grain yield or N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. Chaudhary et al. (2017) further supported these findings, reporting that the GWP of DDSR is 34 to 39% lower than TPR. These studies collectively suggest that DDSR is a viable, low-emission alternative to traditional rice transplanting, offering substantial reductions in GHG emissions without affecting crop yield.

#### **Other potential interventions**

On top of alternative water management systems in rice cultivation, many other interventions can help in the climate mitigation of the rice sector. For instance, reducing the fertilizer application, particularly nitrogen can help decrease field level N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and upstream fertilizer production emissions while preventing environmental issues such as eutrophication. Another strategy involves improved management of rice straw, i.e., removing straw from the fields to prevent breakdown of the organic waste and associated CH<sub>4</sub> release (Kumar & Katagami, 2016; McKinsey & Company, 2023; Diagne Langston et al., 2023).

Furthermore, these straws can be transformed into biochar, a soil amendment that helps retain water and nutrients in the soil while promoting beneficial soil microorganisms for crops (Wu et al., 2012). According to Mohammadi et al. (2020) who reviewed the challenges and progress of biochar application in rice paddy fields, the primary benefits include the stabilization of carbon in biochar, energy recovery from pyrolysis gases, decreased fertilizer needs, and enhanced crop productivity. They found that biochartreated soil can significantly reduce the carbon footprint of rice, with emissions ranging from -1.43 to 2.79 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg of rice, compared to untreated soil. The negative values indicate carbon sequestration. The most impactful advantage is the reduction of soil methane emissions, accounting for 40 to 70% of climate change mitigation. Economic analysis shows that biochar application can be cost-effective in some scenarios. However, elevated energy and transportation demands of biochar on top of supply chain and transformation considerations are currently impeding its adoption (Mohammadi et al., 2020). Enhancing the economic feasibility for farmers involves subsidizing biochar's initial cost and incorporating a substantial carbon abatement price in future market mechanisms.

# 5.3. Barriers to implementation of interventions: paddy rice sector in India

Four main barriers to the implementation of AWD and DDSR in the rice sector have been outlined in literature: the farmer's lack of knowledge of the technique, their reluctance to abandon traditional habits, the lack of (financial and technical) support from the government; and risks associated with the adoption of AWD. Some of the cited risks include decreased yield, growth of weeds and higher fixed costs (Kumar & Katagami, 2016; Waris et al., 2019; Suwanmaneepong et al., 2023). Without the flooded rice paddies suppressing weeds, additional labor and costs must be allocated to effective and sustainable weed management, otherwise rice harvests would be negatively impacted (Kumar & Katagami, 2016).

The declining yields were reported by the International Rice Research Institute's (IRRI) aerobic rice experiments where they observed gradually declining yields over time in comparison to continuously flooded rice (George et al., 2002; Peng et al., 2006; Kumar & Katagami, 2016). Hence, to sustain DDSR in the long term, Ngo et al. (2019) highlighted how essential it is to have research and development strategies for areas where this method is likely to be adopted.

Although higher fixed costs reduce the likelihood of adoption, variable costs are positively linked to a greater intention to adopt in short-term production decisions. To expand the use of AWD, it is essential to ensure farmers comprehend the safe and correct implementation of AWD and to provide support for crop insurance in case of crop failure (Suwanmaneepong et al., 2023).

# 5.4. Costs of implementation of interventions: paddy rice sector in India

Based on the study of Lampayan et al. (2015) about the economics and adoption of AWD for irrigated lowland rice, McKinsey & Company (2023) estimated that adopting of AWD can lead to cost savings (\$59/tCO2e reduced) due to decreased irrigation costs while the suggested and forecasted incremental implementation rate is at least 35% to be aligned with 1.5°C pathway. On the other hand, implementation of DDSR necessitates more preparatory work. According to Ngo et al. (2019), key prerequisites for the success of DDSR include precise land leveling, the use of suitable cultivars, effective crop establishment, accurate water management, and efficient weed and nutrient control. Using their data and findings, McKinsey & Company (2023) approximated that farmers can save an average of  $159/tCO_2e$  abated. In India, a recent study found that the decreased costs associated with irrigation, fertilization and land preparation results into ₹5192/acre (\$159/ha) additional income for DDSR adopters (Dey et al., 2024). Despite the required initial investment in terms of costs and time, farms that adopt these water-saving- and GHG-abating- strategies are expected to cut down their costs in the long run. However, these values are mere estimates, and they remain high-level with plenty of assumptions. Costs per country and per region are likely to vary.

## 5.5. Cacao beans EF – Ivory Coast

### Comparing cacao beans EF in Ivory Coast to literature

Vervuurt et al. (2022) estimated the EF of cacao beans in Ivory Coast based primary data of 509 farms, using Cool Farm Tool (CFT) and Perennial GHG model. They

approximated that the production of 1 kg of cacao beans in Ivory Coast results in the emission of 1.47 kg of CO<sub>2</sub>e on average. Deforestation was a key driver of the emissions, similar to the results of the contributions analysis of WFLDB EF. However, their calculated EF is significantly lower than that of WFLDB (34.8 kg of CO<sub>2</sub>e/ kg of cacao beans). The 184% difference between the two EF is attributed to several factors: (1) distinct methods of estimating the impact of land use change, (2) inclusion of carbon sequestration in the shade trees associated with cacao trees (which was not considered in the WLFDB EF), (3) and treatment of residue management as a carbon negative activity (i.e., carbon capture) rather than a positive activity (i.e., GHG emissions).

Since 94% of the WFLDB EF for cacao is due to LUC, i.e., 32.7 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/ kg of cacao beans, it is the approach to calculating LUC that made the huge difference. While the impact of deforestation on the GHG emission of cacao farming in Vervuurt et al. (2022)'s study was estimated using CFT, WFLDB is based on a more comprehensive and conservative approach which is detailed in the reports by Nemecek et al. (2023) and Quantis (2024). Although both WFLDB and Vervuurt et al. (2022) followed the distribution of LUC impact and emissions over a 20-year assessment period according to the principles and guidelines of GHG Protocol Land Sector and Removals (Anderson et al., 2022), they differed when it comes to other parameters such as allocation across time, allocation across co-products, source of data to estimate LUC, etc.

The second major factor is that the WFLDB EF did not take into the calculations the carbon sequestration in cacao shade trees. Depending on many factors such as the number, spacing, age and species of the shade trees, the carbon sequestration in the shade trees may vary significantly (Ramachandran Nair et al., 2010). For instance, Vervuurt et al. (2022) estimated that 4 tons of C/ha are stored in shade trees while 19 tons C/ha are stored in cacao biomass (above and below-ground). However, cacao-agroforestry systems whose shade trees are old trees from the primary forest have higher carbon sequestration. For instance, Dawoe et al. (2016) estimated the carbon stocks in cacao-agroforestry systems in West Africa and found that 7.45  $\pm$  0.41 Mg C/ha is the average C stock in cacao biomass, whereas 8.32  $\pm$  1.15 Mg C/ha was in the shade trees. Hence, modelling of carbon sequestration at country level can be difficult due to high sensitivity to the parameters mentioned.

Third, Vervuurt et al. (2022) considered leaving biowaste such as husks and infected fruits on the soil as negative emissions. They assumed that the biowaste materials would be integrated into the soil carbon stock, thereby eventually contributing to carbon sequestration. However this process may take a considerable amount of time. In contrast, the modelling of WFLDB EFs used the assumption that the organic wastes are

57

left on the field to decompose, leading to biogenic methane and nitrous oxide emissions, which have higher global warming potential than carbon dioxide. Due these reasons, the calculated EF of WFLDB was significantly higher than what Vervuurt et al. (2022) estimated.

In the same study, Vervuurt et al. (2022) also calculated another EF for a cacao production system in Ivory Coast with "good agricultural practices (GAP)", which resulted into higher emissions of 2.29 kg of CO<sub>2</sub>e/ kg of cacao beans. GAP in cacao farming was characterized as follows: higher inputs usage (fertilizers and pesticides), higher number of shade trees (especially during the first three years), increased yields, burning of residues due to sanitary reasons and zero deforestation. Although GAP led to greater carbon accumulation in shade tree biomass per hectare, the accumulation was lower than anticipated because many shade trees planted initially to protect cacao seedlings are removed in subsequent years. Additionally, GAP recommends plantation renewal after 30 years, whereas current plantations are cultivated for much longer. The main contributors to the emissions of cacao farming with GAP were agricultural inputs and residue management (e.g., burning infected fruits and composting husks). The increased emissions from the use of additional agro-inputs and different residue management practices, such as the recommended burning of residues, were not offset by higher yield.

Following the different EF values generated for cacao beans production in Ivory Coast, it can be deduced that EF can vary greatly depending on the scope, boundaries, assumptions, input data and modelling approach.

#### Comparing the main contributors to cacao beans EF in Ivory Coast to literature

On the other hand, a report by the World Wildlife Fund (WWF) estimating generic emissions from coffee production showed similar land use change (LUC) estimations as those found in the WFLDB (Jennings et al., 2022). Since both coffee and cacao are classified as perennial crops cultivated in the tropics, they share many characteristics and farm management practices that influence their associated emissions. The WWF report broke down the emission factor (EF) of 1 kg of roasted coffee beans into its components: 0 to more than 35 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e can be attributed to LUC alone; 0.5 to over 7 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e can be linked to soil emissions; 0.1 to 2 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e can be associated with residue management; and 0 to 0.3 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e can be attributed to liming. Given the high deforestation rate in Ivory Coast, it is logical that around 32.7 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/ kg of cacao beans is attributed to LUC, aligning with the upper limits of WWF's estimates.

All these points highlight the vital need to address the impact of land use change (LUC) on climate and its significant contribution to emissions in the cacao bean sector in Ivory Coast. Agriculture is the leading cause of cutting down primary forests. Without addressing LUC, particularly deforestation, any efforts to reduce emission in the cacao beans sector would be rendered futile.

### 5.6. Interventions for the cacao beans sector in Ivory Coast

According to the results of the contributions analyses, the two main hotspots of cacao beans cultivation in Ivory Coast accounting for approximately 99% of the emissions are land use change and biowaste management. Some of the interventions that could abate these emissions are zero-deforestation (i.e., eliminating deforestation in the production), adapting agroforestry and planting more shade trees, biochar, composting and integrated pest management among others.

### Zero-deforestation

Achieving zero deforestation in cacao production in Ivory Coast is a complex challenge requiring multifaceted interventions. According to the IPCC, GHG Protocol, and SBTi FLAG Guidance, deforestation must be eradicated by 2030 to achieve net zero emissions by 2050 (Anderson et al., 2022). However, the global cocoa market has seen an average annual production growth rate of 7%, with projections indicating a doubling of production by 2030 compared to 2020 levels (Voora et al., 2019). Despite this growth, cocoa yields have remained stagnant over the past fifty years, leading farmers to expand cultivation areas and significantly contribute to the conversion of tropical forests into cacao fields (Vaast & Somarriba, 2014). In West Africa, cocoa cultivation is recognized as a major driver of forest loss (Ruf et al., 2015; Asubonteng et al., 2018; Acheampong et al., 2019; Hawkins et al., 2024).

In Ivory Coast, between 2000 and 2019, 2.4 million hectares of forest were lost due to cocoa cultivation, averaging 125,000 hectares per year and accounting for 45% of the country's total deforestation during that period. Furthermore, only 43.6% of cacao exports could be traced back to specific departments or cooperatives, highlighting the need for improved traceability (Rénier et al., 2023). Enhancing traceability and transparency in the cacao supply chain can help curb deforestation by holding stakeholders accountable. Despite the existence of laws such as the Ivory Forest Code (2019) and The Cocoa & Forests Initiative (2017), more rigorous implementation is required (Hawkins et al., 2024).

The European Union's "Regulation (EU) 2023/1115 on deforestation-free products" aims to reduce deforestation and GHG emissions related to agricultural expansion, including

cacao production. As the EU is a major importer of cacao beans, this regulation is expected to positively impact deforestation efforts in Ivory Coast (OEC, 2022a; European Commission, 2024).

Efforts to increase cacao yields include implementing improved agricultural practices such as proper irrigation, soil health management, pruning, shade management, and pest and disease control (Daymond et al., 2022; Jennings et al., 2022). Additionally, using high-yield, pest- and disease-resistant cacao varieties can help mitigate losses and increase yields. Finally, promoting sustainable farming practices, including agroforestry, and providing farmers with access to training programs and extension services, are crucial for long-term yield stability and environmental preservation as they are one of the major stakeholders who can implement the changes necessary to mitigate GHG emissions (Bockel et al., 2021).

On the whole, addressing deforestation in cacao production in Ivory Coast requires comprehensive solutions that involve policy implementation, improved agricultural practices, and enhanced supply chain traceability.

#### **Integrated Pest Management**

According to Daymond et al. (2022), pests and diseases are responsible for decreasing potential yield by 30% to 40%. In Ivory Coast, examples of main pests and diseases include cacao swollen shoot virus (CSSV), parasitic mistletoe, *phytophthora megakarya*, and stem borer. In Ivory Coast, agrochemicals and cultural control are the main methods to address pest and diseases. For instance, fungicides are applied to control blackpod while cutting and replanting cacao trees are the means to address CSSV (Daymond et al., 2022). However, pesticides and fungicides are mostly produced using feedstocks and energy from fossil fuels which further contributes to GHG emissions (Demeneix, 2020). Moreover, many studies have shown its negative impact on biodiversity and creates a train of other problems such as resistance of the targeted pests to agro-chemicals. Hence, cultural (e.g., pruning, removal of diseased pods) and biological control are suggested as more sustainable practices to cut yield loss due to pests and diseases (Narayanasamy, 2013).

### Agroforestry

Several meta-analyses studies have been carried out to determine the impact of agroforestry on cacao beans production in terms of economic performance and yield, carbon sequestration and soil health, climate change mitigation, pest and disease management, biodiversity conservation and socio-economic benefits. Regarding economic performance and yield, a meta-analysis of 52 scientific articles by Niether et

al. (2020) revealed that cacao yields under agroforestry systems are 25% lower on average compared to monoculture systems (Table 3 in the appendix). However, agroforestry offers ten times higher total system yield (Table 3) as the shade trees also provide fruits, timber and etc. This shows the substantial contribution cacao-agroforestry system to food security and diversification of income despite the lower cacao yield along. Moreover, both production systems (monoculture and agroforestry) demonstrate similar profitability, indicating that the economic performance of agroforestry is competitive with traditional monoculture systems (Niether et al., 2020).

In terms of carbon sequestration and soil health, a meta-analysis study of 53 articles by De Stefano & Jacobson (2018) showed that transforming agricultural land into agroforestry augments soil organic carbon (SOC) by approximately 26% at depths of 0 to 15 cm and 40% at 0 to 30 cm depths. Kim et al. (2016) added that agroforestry systems can sequester substantial quantities of carbon, i.e.,  $27 \pm 14 \text{ t } CO_2\text{e}/ha/\text{y}$ primarily in tree biomass. Moreover, Tschora & Cherubini (2020) concluded that the inclusion of diverse mix of trees boosts soil fertility along with carbon storage, thereby contributing to overall system productivity and climate resilience.

Niether et al. (2020) also reported that cacao agroforestry systems are able to store 2.5 times more carbon than monoculture systems while also mitigating climate change impact by decreasing mean temperatures and providing budder to extreme temperatures and weather events. In West Africa, large-scale deployment of agroforestry could store up to 135 Mt CO<sub>2</sub>/year, which highlights this intervention's significant climate mitigation potential (Tschora & Cherubini, 2020).

Furthermore, agroforestry can mitigate pests and diseases in cacao beans production. A meta-analysis by Pumariño et al. (2015) reported that agroforestry generally suppresses the presence of weeds and pests' populations in perennial crops such as cacao, plantain and coffee by increasing the abundance of their natural enemies. Conversely, annual crops like rice and corn are not able to benefit from this according to their analysis. However, the impact of agroforestry on disease in cacao remains dependent on the fungal species concerned (Pumariño et al., 2015; Niether et al., 2020).

Other benefits brought by agroforestry include biodiversity conservation and socioeconomic and environmental advantages. Compared to monoculture cacao systems, those of agroforestry support higher biodiversity, hence is instrumental to conservation efforts (Niether et al., 2020). Finally, agroforestry systems provide diversified income

61

sources via co-products of (agroforestry) shade trees, helping them become more resilient to climate change related events such as droughts and disease outbreaks (Tschora & Cherubini, 2020).

In essence, cacao agroforestry presents a multi-dimensional set of benefits including improved total yields, economic viability, enhanced soil health, significant carbon sequestration, better pest and disease management, and higher biodiversity, all contributing to climate change mitigation and adaptation. These benefits underscore the importance of promoting agroforestry practices for sustainable agriculture and environmental conservation.

#### **Biowaste management strategies**

Biowaste management strategies in cacao beans production encompass several approaches aimed at handling organic waste effectively and subsequently reduce GHG emissions. This is pertinent as biowaste was identified as a major contributor to cacao beans EF in Ivory Coast – the top producer exporter of the commodity – and other countries. One option for farmers is to leave organic waste unincorporated in the field, which can lead to higher emissions due to decomposition processes. Alternatively, cacao biowaste can be integrated into the soil or converted into compost on-site, which could help moderate emissions. Furthermore, cacao biowaste can be transported off-site to produce biochar via pyrolysis, similar to the discussion made with rice. However, this process requires substantial energy input along with additional costs for farmers to consider (Vásquez et al., 2019). These strategies are crucial for managing emissions on-farm and optimizing agricultural sustainability in cacao cultivation.

# 5.7. Barriers to implementation of interventions: cacao beans sector in Ivory Coast

Insights from various studies highlights the barriers hindering the implementation of agroforestry in Ivory Coast and elucidates why farmers are hesitant to adopt this climate-mitigating strategy (Middendorp et al., 2018; Kouassi et al., 2021; Niether et al., 2020). These barriers encompass issues surrounding land tenure and tree ownership rights, necessitating greater awareness of policies, e.g., the forest code, to overcome them (Kouassi et al., 2021). Additionally, potential yield reductions brought by agroforestry (shade trees) holds back farmers. As the income of cacao farmers and their families are highly dependent on cacao yields and market price, the decrease in yield can significantly impact them, posing financial and food security concerns (Daymond et al., 2022). The lack of economic incentives discourages farmers from maintaining non-cocoa tree cover, highlighting the importance of payment-for-ecosystem services and

certification schemes (Middendorp et al., 2018). Moreover, limited local knowledge on tree selection and inadequate access to markets for agroforestry products further impede adoption (Niether et al., 2020). These multifaceted barriers collectively impede the widespread adoption of agroforestry practices in Ivory Coast, inhibiting the potential benefits for both farmers and the environment.

Similarly, land tenure issues and economic dependence on cacao farming makes zerodeforestation a formidable challenge for the cacao sector in Ivory Coast. This is further aggravated traditional agricultural practices, whereby the conversion of forested land into cacao fields has been a common practice (F. Ruf & Zadi, 1998). Additionally, the lack of traceability, complexity of the cacao supply chain and limited enforcement to combat deforestation, pose constraints to achieving zero-deforestation in the coming years (Rénier et al., 2023). Finally, the increasing demand for cacao and the stagnant or declining yield (due to pests, diseases, water stress amongst others) also contribute to this concern concerns (Daymond et al., 2022; Jennings et al., 2022).

Comparable to the barriers to the adoption of alternative paddy rice water management interventions, those hindering the adoption of integrated pest management (IPM) in the cacao sector in Ivory Coast center on the limited awareness and education of farmers about IPM practices as well as their benefits, initial investments and traditional practices (Edson et al., 2013; Souza Pereira, 2024). This emphasizes the need to provide financial (such as subsidies to access inputs) and technical support to cacao farmers (via IPM education and training).

# 5.8. Costs of implementation of interventions: cacao beans sector in Ivory Coast

Regarding cacao beans, it was estimated that the costs of running a cacao agroforestry system is  $571.5 \pm 322.8/ha/year$ , which is slightly lower than that of cacao monoculture system ( $552.9 \pm 464.4$ ) (Niether et al., 2020). However, this is an average value across many systems with different characteristics. The economic viability of production systems relies on plantation management effectiveness and labor expenses, with cacao agroforestry setups often necessitating increased labor inputs (Armengot et al., 2016). While timber trees enhance the net present value of cocoa agroforestry systems (Ramírez et al., 2001), their potential future benefits may not always be perceived by farmers due to insecure land and tree tenure and the threat of fires (Ruf, 2011).

On the other hand, there is lack of studies regarding the abatement cost of achieving zero-deforestation and integrated pest management, particularly related to the cacao

sector of Ivory Coast. Most of the published articles on deforestation focus on carbon pricing (Busch & Engelmann, 2015). Despite this limitation, the potential of these interventions to abate GHG emissions should not be overlooked.

### Paddy rice and cacao beans

The economic feasibility of biochar was determined by Robb et al. (2020) through a comprehensive review of 33 relevant published articles. As this economic review is not crop-specific, it can be considered for both Indian paddy rice sector and Ivory Coast's cacao sector. It was found that its average abatement cost applied in developing countries is -\$58/tCO<sub>2</sub>e, indicating financial feasibility, whereas in developed countries it is +\$93/tCO<sub>2</sub>e, indicating a lack of financial feasibility. It was advised that climate policies in developing countries with tropical climates incorporate biochar as a component for small-scale climate-smart agriculture to combat land degradation in tropical farming systems. Recent evidence indicates that biochar fertilizers, could offer a commercially viable route for developing the biochar value chain in developed countries.

# **6. CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES**

The imperative to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, particularly within agriculture, has become increasingly urgent amidst escalating climate change challenges. This master's thesis examined the impact and role of two crucial crops essential to the modern diet—rice and cocoa— in climate mitigation by 2050. The analyses and discussion were further contextualized in India, a major producer and exporter of rice, and in Ivory Coast, the world's largest producer and exporter of cocoa beans.

The main drivers of emissions of paddy rice cultivation in India are direct emissions (i.e., methane and nitrous oxide emissions form paddy rice fields) (66%), irrigation (21%), and production of nitrogen-based fertilizers (6%) according to the contribution analysis of the WFLDB emission factor (EF). In terms of gas distribution, rice cultivation emissions are primarily biogenic methane (62%), followed by CO<sub>2</sub> from fossil fuels (30%) and N<sub>2</sub>O (5%). Methane is mainly from flooded paddy fields, CO<sub>2</sub> from diesel irrigation and fertilizer production, and N<sub>2</sub>O from fertilizer use and early rice growth.

Based on these results, interventions that mitigate direct emissions from paddy rice field should be prioritized. Alternate wetting and drying offers opportunities to decrease methane and nitrous oxide emissions significantly by removing the continuous flooded environment that is conducive to the production of these greenhouse gases. Another strategy is to replace transplanted rice into puddled soil with direct seeded rice into dry or wet soil. These strategies not only abate GHG emissions, but are also effective, watersaving measures, thus simultaneously reducing emission related to irrigation while providing co-benefits with nature. Nevertheless, more optimization studies must be conducted in order to increase yields and prevent N<sub>2</sub>O increase in the case of direct seeding of rice. Another technology to further abate emissions related to irrigation, conversion from flood to drip or sprinkler irrigation is also recommended. Furthermore, minimizing the application of nitrogen fertilizers through precise application and better soil nutrient management can also contribute to emission reductions.

On the contrary, almost 99% of cacao beans EF is associated with land use change (94%) and biowaste or residue management (5%) based on the WFLDB methodology. Breaking down the EF into its gas components showed that  $CO_2$  land transformation makes up the majority of the type of gas emitted into the atmosphere since LUC is the highest contributor to the EF of cacao beans based on previous discussions. Other notable gases in terms of share are CH<sub>4</sub> biogenic, N<sub>2</sub>O, and CO<sub>2</sub> fossil.

65

Following these results, several mitigation strategies were identified as particularly effective in addressing these hotspots. It includes eradication of deforestation caused by cacao production by the year 2050 as the massive impact on carbon fluxes take about 20 years. Another critical strategy to improve the resilience of the sector to climate change is agroforestry which presents a multi-dimensional set of benefits including improved total (system) yields, economic viability, significant carbon sequestration, better pest and disease management, enhanced soil health, and higher biodiversity, all contributing to climate change mitigation. Moreover, reducing yield loss to pests and diseases through integrated pest management and agroforestry is expected to help increase production without having to convert forests and other land into cacao fields. Finally, biowaste management such as transformation of organic wastes into biochar is also expected to abate GHG emissions by preventing anaerobic decomposition of the biowastes and boosting yields through healthier soil.

Despite the potential GHG abatement of these interventions, there lies big knowledge gaps in the applicability (i.e., adoption rates), abatement costs, strategies to overcome implementation to barriers. More accurate estimations of GHG abatement are also pivotal in forming strategies and decision-making to reach net zero and be in line with 1.5° pathway of the Paris Agreement. Moreover, transparency in the methodology and assumptions made to simulate models are as crucial. As for the cacao sector, it is recommended to further investigate the carbon reduction and sequestration of available interventions such as zero-deforestation, agroforestry and integrated pest management particularly in West African countries. Conversely for the rice sector, there is a need to investigate how to increase and maximize the adoption of alternative water management strategies such as AWD and DSR in major rice-producing countries like India. Enhanced research and development efforts are essential for decreasing expenses, enhancing scalability, and comprehending broader ramifications. Given sufficient support and motivators (especially for the farmers), agriculture has the potential to attain net zero emissions – although the question lies when.

Finally, current food production systems are major drivers of global biodiversity decline, with profound impacts on biosphere health, human well-being, and food availability. Six of the nine planetary boundaries have already been surpassed, leading to potentially irreversible consequences. This underscores the urgency to consider trade-offs alongside benefits in decarbonization efforts. While GHG emissions are typically the focus of environmental impact assessments, climate change also impacts water resources, biodiversity, and other planetary boundaries. Therefore, decisions regarding investments or transitions should encompass a comprehensive evaluation of their broader impacts on nature, beyond just carbon considerations.

66

## LIST OF REFERENCES

- Abid, A. A., Zhang, Q., Afzal, M., & Di, H. (2019). NITROUS OXIDE EMISSION AND PRODUCTION PATHWAYS UNDER ALTERNATE WETTING-DRYING CONDITIONS IN RICE PADDY SOILS. *Applied Ecology and Environmental Research*, *17*(6). https://doi.org/10.15666/aeer/1706\_1377713792
- Acheampong, E. O., Macgregor, C. J., Sloan, S., & Sayer, J. (2019). Deforestation is driven by agricultural expansion in Ghana's forest reserves. *Scientific African*, *5*, e00146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sciaf.2019.e00146
- Adusumilli, N. R., Wani, S., Ramesha, M., & Ladha, J. (2017). Rice Production Systems. In *Rice Production Worldwide* (pp. 185–205). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-47516-5\_8
- Aikpokpodion, P. (2019). *Theobroma Cacao: Deploying Science for Sustainability of Global Cocoa Economy*. BoD Books on Demand.
- Anderson, CM., Bicalho, T., Wallace, E., Letts, T., and Stevenson, M. 2022. Forest, Land and Agriculture Science-Based Target-Setting Guidance. World Wildlife Fund, Washington, DC.
- Armengot, L., Barbieri, P., Andres, C., Milz, J., & Schneider, M. (2016). Cacao agroforestry systems have higher return on labor compared to full-sun monocultures. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, *36*(4), 70. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-016-0406-6
- Arnold, S. E. J., Bridgemohan, P., Perry, G. B., Spinelli, G. R., Pierre, B., Murray, F., Haughton, C., Dockery, O., Grey, L., Murphy, S. T., Belmain, S. R., & Stevenson, P. C. (2018). The significance of climate in the pollinator dynamics of a tropical agroforestry system. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 254, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2017.11.013
- Asubonteng, K., Pfeffer, K., Ros-Tonen, M., Verbesselt, J., & Baud, I. (2018). Effects of Tree-crop Farming on Land-cover Transitions in a Mosaic Landscape in the

Eastern Region of Ghana. *Environmental Management*, *62*(3), 529–547. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-018-1060-3

- Audu, V., Rasche, F., Dimitrova Mårtensson, L.-M., & Emmerling, C. (2022). Perennial cereal grain cultivation: Implication on soil organic matter and related soil microbial parameters. *Applied Soil Ecology*, *174*, 104414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2022.104414
- Balaine, N., Carrijo, D. R., Adviento-Borbe, M. A., & Linquist, B. (2019). Greenhouse
  Gases from Irrigated Rice Systems under Varying Severity of Alternate-Wetting
  and Drying Irrigation. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, *83*(5), 1533–
  1541. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj2019.04.0113
- Barrow, M., Buckley, B., Caldicott, T., Cumberlege, T., Hsu, J., Kaufman, S., Ramm,K., Rich, D., Temple-Smith, W., Cummis, C., Draucker, L., Khan, S.,Ranganathan, J., & Sotos, M. (2013). *GHG Protocol and Carbon Trust Team*.
- Benton, T. G., Bieg, C., Harwatt, H., Pudasaini, R., & Wellesley, L. (2021). *Food* system impacts on biodiversity loss.
- Bockel, L., Gopal, P., & Ouédraogo, S. A. (2021). Preliminary impact appraisal of cocoa value chain rehabilitation in Ghana: 2018–2028. FAO and COCOBOD. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb3176en
- Bouman, B. (2009). How much water does rice use? *Rice Today*, *8*, 28–29.
- Bouman, B. A. M. (2002). Water-wise Rice Production. Int. Rice Res. Inst.
- Busch, J., & Engelmann, J. (2015). The Future of Forests: Emissions from Tropical Deforestation with and Without a Carbon Price, 2016-2050 (SSRN Scholarly Paper 2671559). https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2671559
- Calvin, K., Dasgupta, D., Krinner, G., Mukherji, A., Thorne, P. W., Trisos, C., Romero,
  J., Aldunce, P., Barrett, K., Blanco, G., Cheung, W. W. L., Connors, S., Denton,
  F., Diongue-Niang, A., Dodman, D., Garschagen, M., Geden, O., Hayward, B.,
  Jones, C., ... Péan, C. (2023). *IPCC, 2023: Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team,*

H. Lee and J. Romero (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland. (First).
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC).
https://doi.org/10.59327/IPCC/AR6-9789291691647

- Carlson, K. M., Gerber, J. S., Mueller, N. D., Herrero, M., MacDonald, G. K., Brauman,
  K. A., Havlik, P., O'Connell, C. S., Johnson, J. A., Saatchi, S., & West, P. C.
  (2017). Greenhouse gas emissions intensity of global croplands. *Nature Climate Change*, *7*(1), 63–68. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3158
- Carodenuto, S. (2019). Governance of zero deforestation cocoa in West Africa: New forms of public–private interaction. *Environmental Policy and Governance*, *29*(1), 55–66. https://doi.org/10.1002/eet.1841
- Chapman, E. A., Thomsen, H. C., Tulloch, S., Correia, P. M. P., Luo, G., Najafi, J.,
  DeHaan, L. R., Crews, T. E., Olsson, L., Lundquist, P.-O., Westerbergh, A.,
  Pedas, P. R., Knudsen, S., & Palmgren, M. (2022). Perennials as Future Grain
  Crops: Opportunities and Challenges. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *13*, 898769.
  https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2022.898769
- Chaudhary, V. P., Singh, K. K., Pratibha, G., Bhattacharyya, R., Shamim, M., Srinivas, I., & Patel, A. (2017). Energy conservation and greenhouse gas mitigation under different production systems in rice cultivation. *Energy*, *130*, 307–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2017.04.131
- Chivenge, P., Angeles, O., Hadi, B., Acuin, C., Connor, M., Stuart, A., Puskur, R., & Johnson-Beebout, S. (2020). *Ecosystem services in paddy rice systems* (pp. 181–201). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-816436-5.00010-X

Cicerone, R. J., & Shetter, J. D. (1981). Sources of atmospheric methane: Measurements in rice paddies and a discussion. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans*, *86*(C8), 7203–7209. https://doi.org/10.1029/JC086iC08p07203

Cilas, C., & Bastide, P. (2020). Challenges to Cocoa Production in the Face of Climate Change and the Spread of Pests and Diseases. *Agronomy*, *10*(9), Article 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10091232 CIRAD. (2023, July 27). *Rice roadmap summary. The road to sustainable rice growing* [2023-2033]. CIRAD. https://www.cirad.fr/en/Media/espacedocutheque/docutheque/fichiers/the-road-to-sustainable-rice-growing-2023-2033

- Dawoe, E., Asante, W., Acheampong, E., & Bosu, P. (2016). Shade tree diversity and aboveground carbon stocks in Theobroma cacao agroforestry systems:
  Implications for REDD+ implementation in a West African cacao landscape. *Carbon Balance and Management*, *11*(1), 17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13021-016-0061-x
- Daymond, A., Mendez, D. G., Hadley, P., & Bastide, P. (2022). A Global Review of Cocoa Farming Systems.
- De Stefano, A., & Jacobson, M. G. (2018). Soil carbon sequestration in agroforestry systems: A meta-analysis. *Agroforestry Systems*, 92(2), 285–299. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-017-0147-9
- Deheuvels, O., Avelino, J., Somarriba, E., & Malezieux, E. (2012). Vegetation structure and productivity in cocoa-based agroforestry systems in Talamanca, Costa Rica. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 149, 181–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2011.03.003
- Diagne Langston, M., Nagano, A., and Bernoux, M. 2023. Climate change mitigation options in agrifood systems. Summary of the Working Group III contribution to the Intergovernamental Panel on Climate Change Sixth Assessment Report (AR6). Rome, FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/cc4943en
- Demeneix, B. A. (2020). How fossil fuel-derived pesticides and plastics harm health, biodiversity, and the climate. *The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology*, 8(6), 462– 464. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(20)30116-9
- Deshpande, R. S., & Prabhu, N. (2005). Farmers' Distress: Proof beyond Question. *Economic and Political Weekly*, *40*(44/45), 4663–4665.
- Dey, S., Abbhishek, K., Saraswathibatla, S., Singh, P. K., Bommaraboyina, P. R., Raj, A., Kaliki, H., Choubey, A. K., Rongali, H. B., & Upamaka, A. (2024). Empirical

evidence for economic viability of direct seeded rice in peninsular India: An action-based research. *Heliyon*, *10*(5), e26754. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2024.e26754

- Diagne Langston, M., Nagano, A., & Bernoux, M. (2023). *Climate change mitigation options in agrifood systems*. FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/cc4943en
- Edson, M. Y. J., Ntsefong, G. N., & Zachée, A. (2013). Development of Integrated Pest Management system in Agricultural Production in Cameroon and the Central African Sub Region. *World Journal of Agricultural Research*.
- European Commission. (2024). *Regulation on Deforestation-free products—European Commission*.

https://environment.ec.europa.eu/topics/forests/deforestation/regulationdeforestation-free-products\_en

FAO. (2013). *Livestock and Landscapes*.

https://openknowledge.fao.org/handle/20.500.14283/ar591e

- FAO. (2022). Agricultural production statistics 2000–2021.
- FAO. (2023). Agricultural production statistics 2000–2022.
- FAO. (2024). Plant Production and Protection Division: What are sustainable rice systems. https://www.fao.org/agriculture/crops/thematicsitemap/theme/spi/scpi-home/managing-ecosystems/sustainable-ricesystems/rice-what/en/
- FAOSTAT. (2023). FAOSTAT. https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL
- Ferry, Y., Herman, M., Tarigan, E., & Pranowo, D. (2022). Improvements of soil quality and cocoa productivity with agricultural waste biochar. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 974, 012045. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/974/1/012045
- French Ministry of the Energy Transition. (2023). *European overview of GHG emissions*. Climate Change Observations 2023.

https://www.statistiques.developpement-durable.gouv.fr/edition-
numerique/chiffres-cles-du-climat-2023/en/7-european-overview-of-ghgemissions.php

- Friedlingstein, P., O'Sullivan, M., Jones, M. W., Andrew, R. M., Hauck, J., Olsen, A.,
  Peters, G. P., Peters, W., Pongratz, J., Sitch, S., Le Quéré, C., Canadell, J. G.,
  Ciais, P., Jackson, R. B., Alin, S., Aragão, L. E. O. C., Arneth, A., Arora, V.,
  Bates, N. R., ... Zaehle, S. (2020). Global Carbon Budget 2020. *Earth System Science Data*, *12*(4), 3269–3340. https://doi.org/10.5194/essd-12-3269-2020
- Friedman, J. (2020). The Evolution of Annual and Perennial Plant Life Histories:
  Ecological Correlates and Genetic Mechanisms. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 51*(Volume 51, 2020), 461–481.
  https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-110218-024638
- Frink, C. R., Waggoner, P. E., & Ausubel, J. H. (1999). Nitrogen fertilizer: Retrospect and prospect. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 96(4), 1175– 1180. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.4.1175
- Fukagawa, N. K., & Ziska, L. H. (2019). Rice: Importance for Global Nutrition. Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology, 65(Supplement), S2–S3. https://doi.org/10.3177/jnsv.65.S2
- Gao, R., Zhuo, L., Duan, Y., Yan, C., Yue, Z., Zhao, Z., & Wu, P. (2024). Effects of alternate wetting and drying irrigation on yield, water-saving, and emission reduction in rice fields: A global meta-analysis. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 353, 110075. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2024.110075
- George, T., Magbanua, R., Garrity, D. P., Tubaña, B. S., & Quiton, J. (2002). Rapid Yield Loss of Rice Cropped Successively in Aerobic Soil. Agronomy Journal, 94(5), 981–989. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2002.9810
- GHGP. (2024). *Standards* & *Guidance* | *GHG Protocol*. https://ghgprotocol.org/standards-guidance
- Global Rice Science Partnership. (2013). *Rice almanac: Source book for the most important economic activities on Earth* (Fourth Edition). IRRI.

Glover, J. D., Cox, C. M., & Reganold, J. P. (2007). Future Farming: A Return to Roots? *Scientific American*, 297(2), 82–89. https://doi.org/10.1038/scientificamerican0807-82

Greenland, D. J. (1997). The sustainability of rice farming. Cab Internat.

- Hatfield, J. L., & Walthall, C. L. (2014). Climate Change: Cropping System Changes and Adaptations. In N. K. Van Alfen (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Agriculture and Food Systems* (pp. 256–265). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-52512-3.00003-6
- Hawkins, J. W., Gallagher, E. J., Van Der Haar, S., Sevor, M. K. E., Weng, X., Rufino,
  M. C., & Schoneveld, G. C. (2024). Low-emissions and profitable cocoa through moderate-shade agroforestry: Insights from Ghana. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, *367*, 108961. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2024.108961
- Holzapfel-Pschorn, A., & Seiler, W. (1986). Methane emission during a cultivation period from an Italian rice paddy. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, *91*(D11), 11803–11814.

https://doi.org/10.1029/JD091iD11p11803

- IPCC. (2007a). Direct Global Warming Potentials—AR4 WGI Chapter 2: Changes in Atmospheric Constituents and in Radiative Forcing. https://archive.ipcc.ch/publications\_and\_data/ar4/wg1/en/ch2s2-10-2.html
- IPCC. (2007b). *IPCC Fourth Assessment Report: Climate Change 2007* | *Glossary E-I*. https://archive.ipcc.ch/publications\_and\_data/ar4/wg3/en/annex1ensglossary-e-i.html
- IRRI. (2009). *How much water does rice use? Rice Today*. https://ricetoday.irri.org/how-much-water-does-rice-use/
- IRRI. (2020). Rice farming: Saving water through Alternate Wetting Drying (AWD) method | FAO | The International Rice Research Institute (IRRI). https://www.fao.org/family-farming/detail/en/c/1618095/
- Islam, S. F., van Groenigen, J. W., Jensen, L. S., Sander, B. O., & de Neergaard, A. (2018). The effective mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions from rice paddies

without compromising yield by early-season drainage. *Science of The Total Environment*, *612*, 1329–1339.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.09.022

- Jahangir, M. M. R., Aguilera, E., Ferdous, J., Mahjabin, F., Al Asif, A., Ahmad, H., Bauer, M., Sanz Cobeña, A., Müller, C., & Zaman, M. (2023). *Carbon footprint and greenhouse gas emissions from rice based agricultural systems calculated with a co-designed carbon footprint calculation tool*. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-2023-165
- Jennings, S., Meijer, S., & van Dooren, C. (2022). *The Impact of Dutch Imports on Nature Loss*| *WWF Netherlands*.
- Jiang, Y., Carrijo, D., Huang, S., Chen, J., Balaine, N., Zhang, W., van Groenigen, K.
  J., & Linquist, B. (2019). Water management to mitigate the global warming potential of rice systems: A global meta-analysis. *Field Crops Research*, *234*, 47–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2019.02.010
- Khan, M. N., Mobin, M., Abbas, Z. K., & Alamri, S. A. (2018). Fertilizers and Their Contaminants in Soils, Surface and Groundwater. In *Encyclopedia of the Anthropocene* (pp. 225–240). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809665-9.09888-8
- Kibblewhite, M. g, Ritz, K., & Swift, M. j. (2007). Soil health in agricultural systems. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 363(1492), 685–701. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2007.2178
- Kim, D.-G., Kirschbaum, M. U. F., & Beedy, T. L. (2016). Carbon sequestration and net emissions of CH4 and N2O under agroforestry: Synthesizing available data and suggestions for future studies. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 226, 65–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2016.04.011
- Kouassi, J.-L., Kouassi, A., Bene, Y., Konan, D., Tondoh, E., & Kouame, C. (2021). *Exploring Barriers to Agroforestry Adoption by Cocoa Farmers in South-Western Côte d'Ivoire*. https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/13/23/13075

- Kroeger, A., Bakhtary, H., Haupt, F., & Streck, C. (2017). *Eliminating Deforestation from the Cocoa Supply Chain*. https://agris.fao.org/search/en/providers/122582/records/6474779e79cbb2c2c 1b4b1f4
- Kumar, A., & Katagami, M. (2016). Developing and Disseminating Water-Saving Rice Technologies in Asia. 60. https://www.adb.org/publications/developingdisseminating-water-saving-rice-technologies-asia
- Ladha, J. K., Tirol-Padre, A., Reddy, C. K., Cassman, K. G., Verma, S., Powlson, D. S., van Kessel, C., de B. Richter, D., Chakraborty, D., & Pathak, H. (2016). Global nitrogen budgets in cereals: A 50-year assessment for maize, rice and wheat production systems. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 19355. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep19355
- Lagomarsino, A., Agnelli, A. E., Linquist, B., Adviento-borbe, M. A., Agnelli, A., Gavina, G., Ravaglia, S., & Ferrara, R. M. (2016). Alternate Wetting and Drying of Rice
  Reduced CH4 Emissions but Triggered N2O Peaks in a Clayey Soil of Central
  Italy. *Pedosphere*, *26*(4), 533–548. https://doi.org/10.1016/S10020160(15)60063-7
- Lal, R. (2012). Climate Change and Soil Degradation Mitigation by Sustainable
   Management of Soils and Other Natural Resources. *Agricultural Research*, 1(3), 199–212. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40003-012-0031-9
- Lampayan, R. M., Rejesus, R. M., Singleton, G. R., & Bouman, B. A. M. (2015). Adoption and economics of alternate wetting and drying water management for irrigated lowland rice. *Field Crops Research*, *170*, 95–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2014.10.013
- Ledo, A., Heathcote, R., Hastings, A., Smith, P., & Hillier, J. (2018). Perennial-GHG: A new generic allometric model to estimate biomass accumulation and greenhouse gas emissions in perennial food and bioenergy crops. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, *102*, 292–305.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2017.12.005

Lindt & Sprungli. (2021). What's the Difference Between Cacao and Cocoa? Lindt & Sprungli (CA) Ltd. https://www.lindt.ca/en/your-life-with-lindt/whats-thedifference-between-cacao-and-cocoa/

Linquist, B., van Groenigen, K. J., Adviento-Borbe, M. A., Pittelkow, C., & van Kessel, C. (2012). An agronomic assessment of greenhouse gas emissions from major cereal crops. *Global Change Biology*, *18*(1), 194–209. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02502.x

Loaiza, S., Verchot, L., Valencia, D., Guzmán, P., Amezquita, N., Garcés, G., Puentes,
O., Trujillo, C., Chirinda, N., & Pittelkow, C. M. (2024). Evaluating greenhouse
gas mitigation through alternate wetting and drying irrigation in Colombian rice
production. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 360*, 108787.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2023.108787

Loboguerrero Rodriguez, A. M., Birch, J., Thornton, P. K., Meza, L., Sunga, I., Bong, B.
B., Rabbinge, R., Reddy, M., Dinesh, D., Korner, J., Martínez Barón, D., Millan,
A., Hansen, J., Huyer, S., & Campbell, B. M. (2018). *Feeding the World in a Changing Climate: An Adaptation Roadmap for Agriculture*.
https://hdl.handle.net/10568/97662

Mauseth, J. D. (2011). *Botany: An Introduction to Plant Biology*. Jones & Bartlett Publishers.

McKinsey & Company. (2022). Decarbonising India: Charting a pathway for sustainable growth. https://www.mckinsey.com/capabilities/sustainability/ourinsights/decarbonising-india-charting-a-pathway-for-sustainable-growth

McKinsey & Company. (2023). *The agricultural transition: Building a sustainable future* | *McKinsey*. https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/agriculture/our-insights/theagricultural-transition-building-a-sustainable-future#/

Meijide, A., Gruening, C., Goded, I., Seufert, G., & Cescatti, A. (2017). Water
management reduces greenhouse gas emissions in a Mediterranean rice paddy
field. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 238, 168–178.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2016.08.017

- Merriam-Webster. (2024, May 19). *Definition of COCOA*. https://www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary/cocoa
- Middendorp, R. S., Vanacker, V., & Lambin, E. F. (2018). Impacts of shaded agroforestry management on carbon sequestration, biodiversity and farmers income in cocoa production landscapes. *Landscape Ecology*, *33*(11), 1953– 1974. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-018-0714-0
- Migicovsky, Z., & Myles, S. (2017). Exploiting Wild Relatives for Genomics-assisted Breeding of Perennial Crops. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.00460
- Mohammadi, A., Khoshnevisan, B., Venkatesh, G., & Eskandari, S. (2020). A Critical Review on Advancement and Challenges of Biochar Application in Paddy Fields: Environmental and Life Cycle Cost Analysis. *Processes*, *8*(10), Article 10. https://doi.org/10.3390/pr8101275
- Moore, H. E., & Boldero, J. (2017). Designing Interventions that Last: A Classification of Environmental Behaviors in Relation to the Activities, Costs, and Effort Involved for Adoption and Maintenance. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01874
- Mushtaq, S., Maraseni, T. N., & Reardon-Smith, K. (2013). Climate change and water security: Estimating the greenhouse gas costs of achieving water security through investments in modern irrigation technology. *Agricultural Systems*, *117*, 78–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2012.12.009
- Narayanasamy, P. (2013). Cultural Practices Influencing Biological Management of Crop Diseases. In P. Narayanasamy (Ed.), *Biological Management of Diseases* of Crops: Volume 2: Integration of Biological Control Strategies with Crop Disease Management Systems (pp. 9–56). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-6377-7\_2
- Nemecek, T., Bengoa, X., Lansche, J., Roesch, A., Faist-Emmenegger, M., Rossi, V., Humbert, S., Brunner, F., Guignard, C., & Burg, A. (2023). Methodological Guidelines for the Life Cycle Inventory of Agricultural Products. Version 3.9,

October 2023. World Food LCA Database (WFLDB). Quantis and Agroscope, Lausanne and Zurich, Switzerland.

- Neue, H.-U., & Sass, R. L. (1994). Trace Gas Emissions from Rice Fields. In R. G. Prinn (Ed.), Global Atmospheric-Biospheric Chemistry (pp. 119–147). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-2524-0\_8
- Ngo, D. M., Truong, T. K. L., Vo, T. T. N., Nguyen, T. T. T., & Nguyen, T. P. (2019). The current adoption of dry-direct seeding rice (DDSR) in Thailand and lessons learned for Mekong River Delta of Vietnam (CCAFS Working Paper No. 273). CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS). https://www.ccafs.cgiar.org
- Niether, W., Jacobi, J., Blaser, W. J., Andres, C., & Armengot, L. (2020). Cocoa agroforestry systems versus monocultures: A multi-dimensional meta-analysis. *Environmental Research Letters*, 15(10), 104085. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abb053
- Odegard, I., Bijleveld, M., & Naber, N. (2015). *Food commodity footprints: Macro assessment of global GHG footprints and water footprints in agriculture*. CE Delft. https://cedelft.eu/wp-

content/uploads/sites/2/2021/04/CE\_Delft\_2E293\_Food\_commodity\_footprints \_def.pdf

OEC. (2022a). Cocoa Beans (HS: Cocoa) Product Trade, Exporters and Importers. The Observatory of Economic Complexity. https://oec.world/en/profile/hs/cocoabeans

OEC. (2022b). *Rice (HS: 1006) Product Trade, Exporters and Importers*. The Observatory of Economic Complexity. https://oec.world/en/profile/hs/rice

Ofori-Boateng, K., & Insah, B. (2014). The impact of climate change on cocoa production in West Africa. *International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management*, 6(3), 296–314. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCCSM-01-2013-0007

- Oo, A. Z., Sudo, S., Inubushi, K., Chellappan, U., Yamamoto, A., Ono, K., Mano, M., Hayashida, S., Koothan, V., Osawa, T., Terao, Y., Palanisamy, J., Palanisamy, E., & Venkatachalam, R. (2018). Mitigation Potential and Yield-Scaled Global Warming Potential of Early-Season Drainage from a Rice Paddy in Tamil Nadu, India. *Agronomy*, 8(10), Article 10. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy8100202
- Osaki, M., Nursyamsi, D., Noor, M., Wahyunto, & Segah, H. (2016). Peatland in Indonesia. In M. Osaki & N. Tsuji (Eds.), *Tropical Peatland Ecosystems* (pp. 49– 58). Springer Japan. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-4-431-55681-7\_3

Papademetriou, M. K., Dent, & Herath. (2000). *Rice Production in the Asia-Pacific Region: Issues and Perspectives. Bridging the Rice Yield Gap in the Asia-Pacific Region. Bangkok, Thailand: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific.* https://www.fao.org/4/x6905e/x6905e04.htm#RICE%20PRODUCTION%20IN %20THE%20ASIAPACIFIC%20REGION%20ISSUES%20AND%20PERSPECTIVES %20M.K.%20Papademetriou\*

- Pathak, H., Li, C., & Wassmann, R. (2005). *Greenhouse gas emissions from Indian rice fields: Calibration and upscaling using the DNDC model*.
- Pathak, H., Sankhyan, S., Dubey, D. S., Bhatia, A., & Jain, N. (2013). Dry directseeding of rice for mitigating greenhouse gas emission: Field experimentation and simulation. *Paddy and Water Environment*, *11*(1), 593–601. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10333-012-0352-0
- Paustian, K., Lehmann, J., Ogle, S., Reay, D., Robertson, G. P., & Smith, P. (2016).
   Climate-smart soils. *Nature*, *532*(7597), 49–57.
   https://doi.org/10.1038/nature17174
- Peixoto, L., Olesen, J. E., Elsgaard, L., Enggrob, K. L., Banfield, C. C., Dippold, M. A., Nicolaisen, M. H., Bak, F., Zang, H., Dresbøll, D. B., Thorup-Kristensen, K., & Rasmussen, J. (2022). Deep-rooted perennial crops differ in capacity to stabilize C inputs in deep soil layers. *Scientific Reports*, *12*(1), 5952. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-09737-1

- Peng, S., Bouman, B., Visperas, R. M., Castañeda, A., Nie, L., & Park, H.-K. (2006). Comparison between aerobic and flooded rice in the tropics: Agronomic performance in an eight-season experiment. *Field Crops Research*, 96(2), 252– 259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2005.07.007
- PhilRice. (2023). *State of the Rice Sector in the Philippines*. https://www.philrice.gov.ph/ricelytics/

Pimentel, D., Cerasale, D., Stanley, R. C., Perlman, R., Newman, E. M., Brent, L. C., Mullan, A., & Chang, D. T.-I. (2012). Annual vs. Perennial grain production. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 161, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2012.05.025

- Pittelkow, C. M., Adviento-Borbe, M. A., Hill, J. E., Six, J., van Kessel, C., & Linquist,
  B. A. (2013). Yield-scaled global warming potential of annual nitrous oxide and methane emissions from continuously flooded rice in response to nitrogen input. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, *177*, 10–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.05.011
- Poppenwimer, T., Mayrose, I., & DeMalach, N. (2023). Revising the global biogeography of annual and perennial plants. *Nature*, 624(7990), 109–114. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-023-06644-x
- Pumariño, L., Sileshi, G. W., Gripenberg, S., Kaartinen, R., Barrios, E., Muchane, M. N., Midega, C., & Jonsson, M. (2015). Effects of agroforestry on pest, disease and weed control: A meta-analysis. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, *16*(7), 573–582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2015.08.006
- Ramachandran Nair, P. K., Nair, V. D., Mohan Kumar, B., & Showalter, J. M. (2010).
  Chapter Five—Carbon Sequestration in Agroforestry Systems. In D. L. Sparks
  (Ed.), *Advances in Agronomy* (Vol. 108, pp. 237–307). Academic Press.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2113(10)08005-3
- Ramírez, O. A., Somarriba, E., Ludewigs, T., & Ferreira, P. (2001). Financial returns, stability and risk of cacao-plantain-timber agroforestry systems in Central

America. Agroforestry Systems, 51(2), 141–154.

https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010655304724

- Ranguwal, S., Sidana, B. K., & Kumar, S. (2022). Carbon footprints of rice-wheat cultivation across farm size categories: Evidence from Punjab in India. *Journal* of Cereal Research, 14(spl2). https://doi.org/10.25174/2582-2675/2022/125984
- Recanati, F., Marveggio, D., & Dotelli, G. (2018). From beans to bar: A life cycle assessment towards sustainable chocolate supply chain. *Science of The Total Environment*, 613–614, 1013–1023.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.09.187

- Reddy, V. R., & Rahut, D. B. (2023). Multifunctionality of Rice Production Systems in Asia: A Synoptic Review. Asian Development Bank Institute. https://doi.org/10.56506/NWGY7787
- Rees, R. M., Eory, V., Bell, J., Topp, C. F. E., Sykes, A., Misselbrook, T., Cardenas, L.
  M., Chadwick, D. R., Sohi, S., Manning, A. C., & Smith, P. (2020). HOW FAR
  CAN GREENHOUSE GAS MITIGATION TAKE US TOWARDS NET ZERO
  EMISSIONS IN AGRICULTURE?
- Rénier, C., Vandromme, M., Meyfroidt, P., Ribeiro, V., Kalischek, N., & Erasmus, K. H. (2023). *Transparency, traceability and deforestation in the Ivorian cocoa supply chain—IOPscience*. https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1748-9326/acad8e/meta
- Riaz, U., Aslam, Z., Nazir, S., Sharif, S., Zaman, Q. U., & Shan, A. (2020). *Rice Production Systems*.
- Ritchie, H., & Roser, M. (2024). Land Use. *Our World in Data*. https://ourworldindata.org/land-use
- Robb, S., Joseph, S., Abdul Aziz, A., Dargusch, P., & Tisdell, C. (2020). Biochar's cost constraints are overcome in small-scale farming on tropical soils in lowerincome countries. *Land Degradation & Development*, *31*(13), 1713–1726. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.3541

- Rosa, L., & Gabrielli, P. (2023). Achieving net-zero emissions in agriculture: A review. *Environmental Research Letters*, *18*(6), 063002. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/acd5e8
- Ruf, F. O. (2011). The Myth of Complex Cocoa Agroforests: The Case of Ghana. Human Ecology, 39(3), 373–388. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10745-011-9392-0
- Ruf, F., Schroth, G., & Doffangui, K. (2015). Climate change, cocoa migrations and deforestation in West Africa: What does the past tell us about the future? *Sustainability Science*, *10*(1), 101–111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-014-0282-4
- Ruf, F., & Zadi, H. (1998). Cocoa: From Deforestation to Reforestation. *First International Workshop on Sustainable Cocoa Growing, 1998-03-29/1998-04-03, Panama City, Panama / Smithsonian Institute*.
- Schreier, H. (2014). *Water and Agriculture: Harvesting Water before Harvesting the Crop*.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/242264738\_WATER\_AND\_AGRICULT URE\_HARVESTING\_WATER\_BEFORE\_HARVESTING\_THE\_CROP

- Schroth, G., L\u00e4derach, P., Martinez-Valle, A. I., Bunn, C., & Jassogne, L. (2016).
  Vulnerability to climate change of cocoa in West Africa: Patterns, opportunities and limits to adaptation. *Science of The Total Environment*, *556*, 231–241.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.03.024
- Sinha, R., Soni, P., & Perret, S. R. (2020). Environmental and economic assessment of paddy based cropping systems in Middle Indo-Gangetic plains, India. *Environmental and Sustainability Indicators*, *8*, 100067. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indic.2020.100067
- Souza Pereira, L. (2024). Analyzing the Impact of Technological Innovations on Smallholder Farmers Within Ivory Coast's Cocoa Supply Chain. https://www.paradigmpress.org/le/article/view/1039

- Sridhara, S., Manoj, K. N., & Gopakkali, P. (2023). A micro-level assessment of carbon equivalent greenhouse gas emission and energy budgeting of rice cultivation in India. *Energy*, *278*, 127740. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2023.127740
- Sriphirom, P., & Rossopa, B. (2023). Assessment of greenhouse gas mitigation from rice cultivation using alternate wetting and drying and rice straw biochar in Thailand. *Agricultural Water Management*, 290, 108586. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2023.108586
- Stockholm Resilience Centre. (2023, September 13). All planetary boundaries mapped out for the first time, six of nine crossed [Text].

https://www.stockholmresilience.org/research/research-news/2023-09-13-allplanetary-boundaries-mapped-out-for-the-first-time-six-of-nine-crossed.html

- Susilawati, H. L., Setyanto, P., Kartikawati, R., & Sutriadi, M. T. (2019). The opportunity of direct seeding to mitigate greenhouse gas emission from paddy rice field. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 393(1), 012042. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/393/1/012042
- Suwanmaneepong, S., Kultawanich, K., Khurnpoon, L., Sabaijai, P. E., Cavite, H. J., Llones, C., Lepcha, N., & Kerdsriserm, C. (2023). Alternate Wetting and Drying as Water-Saving Technology: An Adoption Intention in the Perspective of Good Agricultural Practices (GAP) Suburban Rice Farmers in Thailand. *Water*, 15(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.3390/w15030402
- Teske, S., & Nagrath, K. (2022). Global sector-specific Scope 1, 2, and 3 analyses for setting net-zero targets: Agriculture, forestry, and processing harvested products. *SN Applied Sciences*, 4(8), 221. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42452-022-05111-y
- Toriyama, K., International Rice Research Inst., L. B. eng, Tsukuba, W. R. R. C. eng 47 N. 2004, Heong, K. L., & Hardy, B. (2005). *Rice is life: Scientific perspectives for the 21st century*.
  https://agris.fao.org/search/en/providers/122621/records/647396bd3ed73003

714cea6a

Tschora, H., & Cherubini, F. (2020). Co-benefits and trade-offs of agroforestry for climate change mitigation and other sustainability goals in West Africa. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 22, e00919. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2020.e00919

- UNCTAD. (2024, March 28). *Chocolate price hikes: A bittersweet reason to care about climate change* | *UNCTAD*. https://unctad.org/news/chocolate-price-hikes-bittersweet-reason-care-about-climate-change
- US EPA, O. (2012). *Global Non-CO2 GHG Emissions: 1990-2030* [Reports and Assessments]. https://www.epa.gov/global-mitigation-non-co2-greenhousegases/global-non-co2-ghg-emissions-1990-2030
- US EPA, O. (2015, December 29). *Sources of Greenhouse Gas Emissions* [Overviews and Factsheets]. https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/sources-greenhouse-gasemissions
- Vaast, P., & Somarriba, E. (2014). Trade-offs between crop intensification and ecosystem services: The role of agroforestry in cocoa cultivation. *Agroforestry Systems*, 88(6), 947–956. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-014-9762-x
- van Vliet, J. A., & Giller, K. E. (2017). Chapter Five Mineral Nutrition of Cocoa: A
  Review. In D. L. Sparks (Ed.), *Advances in Agronomy* (Vol. 141, pp. 185–270).
  Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.agron.2016.10.017
- Vásquez, Z. S., de Carvalho Neto, D. P., Pereira, G. V. M., Vandenberghe, L. P. S., de Oliveira, P. Z., Tiburcio, P. B., Rogez, H. L. G., Góes Neto, A., & Soccol, C. R. (2019). Biotechnological approaches for cocoa waste management: A review. *Waste Management*, *90*, 72–83.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2019.04.030

Vervuurt, W., Slingerland, M. A., Pronk, A. A., & Van Bussel, L. G. J. (2022). Modelling greenhouse gas emissions of cacao production in the Republic of Côte d'Ivoire. *Agroforestry Systems*, 96(2), 417–434. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-022-00729-8

- Voora, V., Bermúdez, S., & Larrea, C. (2019). *Global Market Report: Cocoa*. International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD). https://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep22025
- Walling, E., & Vaneeckhaute, C. (2020). Greenhouse gas emissions from inorganic and organic fertilizer production and use: A review of emission factors and their variability. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *276*, 111211.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111211
- Wang, X., Chang, X., Ma, L., Bai, J., Liang, M., & Yan, S. (2023). Global and regional trends in greenhouse gas emissions from rice production, trade, and consumption. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, *101*, 107141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eiar.2023.107141
- Waris, A., Kumar, R. M., Kuchi, S., Nirmala, B., Swarnaraj, A. K., & Meera, S. N.
  (2019). Climate resilient production practices: Extent of adoption and barriers faced by rice farmers in Telangana state of India. *Wheat and Barley Research*, *11*(3). https://doi.org/10.25174/2249-4065/2019/94868
- Wassmann, R., Neue, H.-U., Lantin, R., Makarim, K., Chareonsilps, N., Buendia, L., & Rennenberg, H. (2001). Characterization of Methane Emissions from Rice Fields in Asia. II. Differences among Irrigated, Rainfed, and Deepwater Rice. In *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems—NUTR CYCL AGROECOSYST* (Vol. 58, pp. 13–22). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-010-0898-3\_2
- Weisse, M., & Goldman, E. D. (2019). The World Lost a Belgium-sized Area of Primary Rainforests Last Year | World Resources Institute. https://www.wri.org/insights/world-lost-belgium-sized-area-primaryrainforests-last-year
- Wessel, M., & Quist-Wessel, P. M. F. (2015). Cocoa production in West Africa, a review and analysis of recent developments. NJAS: Wageningen Journal of Life Sciences, 74–75(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.njas.2015.09.001
- Westermann, O., Förch, W., Thornton, P., Körner, J., Cramer, L., & Campbell, B. (2018). Scaling up agricultural interventions: Case studies of climate-smart

agriculture. Agricultural Systems, 165, 283-293.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2018.07.007

Wu, Q., He, Y., Qi, Z., & Jiang, Q. (2022). Drainage in paddy systems maintains rice yield and reduces total greenhouse gas emissions on the global scale. *Journal* of Cleaner Production, 370, 133515.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.133515

- Wu, W., Yang, M., Feng, Q., McGrouther, K., Wang, H., Lu, H., & Chen, Y. (2012).
  Chemical characterization of rice straw-derived biochar for soil amendment. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 47, 268–276.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2012.09.034
- WWF. (2024). Measuring and Mitigating Greenhouse Gas Emissions for Specific Commodities | Topics | WWF. World Wildlife Fund. https://www.worldwildlife.org/topics/measuring-and-mitigating-greenhousegas-emissions-for-specific-commodities?trk=organization\_guest\_main-feedcard\_feed-article-content

## **APPENDICES**

Table 3. Comparison of cocoa agroforestry system and cocoa monoculture based on a meta-analysis of 52 scientific articles (Niether et al., 2020).

**Table 1.** Mean values and standard deviations (SD) for (a) yield; (b) economic performance; (c) soil chemical properties; (d) soil physical properties; (e) pests and diseases; (f) microclimate; (g) stand structural parameters in cocoa agroforestry systems and cocoa monocultures. N indicates the number of studies; levels of significance: \*\*\* p < 0.001, \*\* p < 0.01, \*\* p < 0.05, n.s.: not significant.

Group	Variable	Unit	Cocoa agroforestry system		Cocoa monoculture			
			Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Ν	
Yield								
	Cocoa yield	$Mg ha^{-1}$	0.6	$\pm 0.4$	0.9	$\pm 0.7$	36	***
	System yield	Mg ha <sup>-1</sup>	9.8	$\pm$ 9.2	0.6	$\pm 0.4$	8	*
Econom	nic performance	-						
	Costs	$\mathrm{USD}\mathrm{ha}^{-1}\mathrm{a}^{-1}$	571.5	$\pm$ 322.8	652.9	$\pm$ 464.4	7	n.s.
	System revenue	$\mathrm{USD}\mathrm{ha}^{-1}\mathrm{a}^{-1}$	1094.3	$\pm 594.7$	1299.7	$\pm 905.9$	8	n.s.
	Net present value	$\rm USD~ha^{-1}$	998.8	$\pm 736.8$	1108.9	$\pm$ 729.7	4	n.s.
Soil che	mical properties							
	Soil C	%	14.5	$\pm 2.4$	13.8	$\pm 2.3$	20	n.s.
	Soil N	%	1.8	$\pm 0.7$	1.7	$\pm 0.6$	22	n.s.
	Soil available P	$mg kg^{-1}$	13.7	$\pm 14.2$	17.2	$\pm 16.9$	9	n.s.
	Soil available K	$g kg^{-1}$	0.1	$\pm 0.1$	0.1	$\pm 0.1$	10	n.s.
	Soil organic carbon	%	1.7	$\pm 0.5$	1.7	$\pm 0.5$	8	n.s.
	рН		6.3	$\pm 0.4$	6.4	$\pm 0.5$	6	*
Soil phy	sical properties							
	Mean weight diameter	mm	1.0	$\pm 0.4$	0.9	$\pm 0.2$	10	n.s.
	Bulk density	g cm <sup>3</sup>	1.3	$\pm 0.3$	1.4	$\pm 0.2$	4	*
	Volumetric water content	%	20.1	$\pm$ 5.4	21.8	$\pm$ 5.7	6	**
Fungal o	diseases							
	Frosty pod rot	%	28.8	$\pm$ 24.5	21.2	$\pm 16$	4	n.s.
	Black pod	%	3.4	$\pm$ 2.2	3.0	$\pm 2.0$	5	*
	Witches' broom	%	1.9	$\pm 1.4$	3.7	$\pm$ 2.4	5	*
Microcl	imate							
	Maximum temperature	°C	32.4	$\pm 2.5$	34.7	$\pm$ 3.3	8	*
	Minimum temperature	°C	18.6	$\pm$ 3.1	17.9	$\pm$ 3.4	8	***
	Mean temperature	°C	24.7	$\pm$ 1.8	25.0	$\pm 1.8$	8	*
	Mean relative humidity	%	81.5	$\pm 16.5$	80.5	$\pm 15.6$	3	n.s.
	Vapor pressure deficit	kPa	1.1	$\pm$ 0.7	1.3	$\pm 0.8$	4	n.s.
Stand st	ructural parameters							
	Basal area cocoa trees	$m^2 ha^{-1}$	7.7	$\pm 2.9$	9.4	$\pm$ 3.2	22	***
	Basal area shade trees	$m^2 ha^{-1}$	10.2	$\pm 2.2$	0.2	$\pm 0.4$	4	***
	Total C in cocoa trees	Mg ha <sup>-1</sup>	9.5	$\pm 6.3$	13.2	$\pm 6.9$	30	***
	Total C in shade trees	Mg ha <sup>-1</sup>	24.7	$\pm 26.3$	1.0	$\pm$ 4.6	27	***
	Total C in system	$Mg ha^{-1}$	37.0	$\pm$ 28.9	14.2	$\pm$ 9.0	30	***

Table 4. Classification of exchanges (input and output processes) as contributors to paddy rice and cacao beans emission factors.

Exchanges	Contributors
Pesticide, unspecified, mix for cereal crops, at plant /GLO U	Pesticides
Barley seed, for sowing {GLO}  market for barley seed, for sowing   Cut-	
	Seeds
Ammonium nitrate (AN), as N, at plant /RER U	N Fert Production
Urea, as N, at plant /RER U	N Fert Production
Urea ammonium nitrate (UAN), as N, at plant /RER U	N Fert Production
Monoammonium phosphate (MAP), as N, at plant /RER U	N Fert Production
Calcium ammonium nitrate (CAN), as N, at plant /RER U	N Fert Production
Inorganic nitrogen fertiliser, as N {RER}  nutrient supply from ammonium sulfate   Cut-off, U	N Fert Production
NPK (15-15-15), as N, at plant /RER U	N Fert Production
Manure, solid, cattle {GLO}  market for manure, solid, cattle   Cut-off, U	Manure
Barley grain, heavy metals uptake /GLO U	Other
Packaging, for fertilisers or pesticides {GLO}  packaging production for solid fertiliser or pesticide, per kilogram of packed product   Cut-off, U	Fertilizers, other
Packaging, for fertilisers or pesticides {GLO}  packaging production for	
Emissions from pesticides, unspecified, mix for cereal crops, at farm /GLO	Fertilizers, other
U	Pesticides
Application of plant protection product, by field sprayer {GLO}  market for application of plant protection product, by field sprayer   Cut-off, U	Machinery
Tillage, currying, by weeder {GLO}  market for tillage, currying, by weeder   Cut-off, U	Tillage
Tillage, harrowing, by rotary harrow {GLO}  market for tillage, harrowing, by rotary harrow   Cut-off, U	Tillage
Tillage, ploughing {GLO}  market for tillage, ploughing   Cut-off, U	Tillage
Sowing {GLO}  market for sowing   Cut-off, U	Machinery
Fertilising, by broadcaster {GLO}  market for fertilising, by broadcaster   Cut-off, U	Machinery
Combine harvesting {GLO}  market for combine harvesting   Cut-off, U	Machinery
Solid manure loading and spreading, by hydraulic loader and spreader {GLO}  market for solid manure loading and spreading, by hydraulic	
loader and spreader   Cut-off, U	Machinery
Statistical land use change mix, Barley (DRYAD)/UA U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /UA U	LUC
Carbon dioxide, in air	Direct Emissions
Carbon dioxide, fossil	Direct Emissions
Dinitrogen monoxide	Direct Emissions
Irrigating, sprinkler, electricity powered /AU U	Irrigation
Tap water {GLO}  market group for tap water   Cut-off, U	Irrigation

Ammonium nitrate (AN), as N, at plant /RoW U N Fert Production Urea, as N, at plant /RoW U N Fert Production Monoammonium phosphate (MAP), as N, at plant /RoW U N Fert Production Inorganic nitrogen fertiliser, as N {RoW}| nutrient supply from ammonium sulfate | Cut-off, U N Fert Production Ammonia (with 100% NH3), steam reforming process, at plant /RoW U N Fert Production NPK (15-15-15), as N, at plant /RoW U N Fert Production P Fert Production Triple superphosphate, as P2O5, at plant /RoW U Monoammonium phosphate (MAP), as P2O5, at plant /RoW U P Fert Production Diammonium phosphate (DAP), as P2O5, at plant /RoW U P Fert Production Ammonium nitrate phosphate (ANP), as P2O5, at plant /RoW U P Fert Production Potassium chloride, as K2O, at plant /RoW U **K** Fert Production Inorganic potassium fertiliser, as K2O {RoW}| nutrient supply from potassium sulfate | Cut-off, U **K** Fert Production Potassium nitrate, as K2O, at plant /RoW U **K** Fert Production Statistical land use change mix, Barley (DRYAD)/AU U LUC Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /AU U LUC Irrigating, sprinkler, electricity powered /CA U Irrigation Ammonium nitrate (AN), as N, at plant /RNA U N Fert Production Urea, as N, at plant /RNA U N Fert Production Urea ammonium nitrate (UAN), as N, at plant /RNA U N Fert Production Monoammonium phosphate (MAP), as N, at plant /RNA U **N** Fert Production Calcium ammonium nitrate (CAN), as N, at plant /RNA U N Fert Production Ammonia (with 100% NH3), steam reforming process, at plant /RNA U N Fert Production N Fert Production NPK (15-15-15), as N, at plant /RNA U P Fert Production Monoammonium phosphate (MAP), as P2O5, at plant /RNA U Diammonium phosphate (DAP), as P2O5, at plant /RNA U P Fert Production Ammonium nitrate phosphate (ANP), as P2O5, at plant /RNA U P Fert Production Potassium nitrate, as K2O, at plant /RNA U **K** Fert Production Statistical land use change mix, Barley (DRYAD)/CA U LUC Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /CA U LUC Irrigating, sprinkler, electricity powered /DE U Irrigation Ammonia (with 100% NH3), steam reforming process, at plant /RER U N Fert Production Triple superphosphate, as P2O5, at plant /RER U P Fert Production Inorganic phosphorus fertiliser, as P2O5 {RER}| nutrient supply from single superphosphate | Cut-off, U P Fert Production Monoammonium phosphate (MAP), as P2O5, at plant /RER U P Fert Production Diammonium phosphate (DAP), as P2O5, at plant /RER U P Fert Production Ammonium nitrate phosphate (ANP), as P2O5, at plant /RER U **P** Fert Production Phosphate rock, as P2O5, at mine /RER U P Fert Production Potassium chloride, as K2O, at plant /RER U **K** Fert Production

Inorganic potassium fertiliser, as K2O {RER}  nutrient supply from potassium sulfate   Cut-off, U	K Fert Production
Potassium nitrate, as K2O, at plant /RER U	K Fert Production
Lime {RoW}  market for lime   Cut-off, U	Lime/Dolomite Production
Statistical land use change mix, Barley (DRYAD)/DE U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /DE U	LUC
Irrigating, sprinkler, electricity powered /FR U	Irrigation
Statistical land use change mix, Barley (DRYAD)/FR U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /FR U	LUC
Irrigating, sprinkler, electricity powered /GB U	Irrigation
Statistical land use change mix, Barley (DRYAD)/GB U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /GB U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /IT U	LUC
Irrigating, sprinkler, electricity powered /IT U	Irrigation
Statistical land use change mix, Barley (DRYAD)/IT U	LUC
Irrigating, sprinkler, electricity powered /PL U	Irrigation
Statistical land use change mix, Barley (DRYAD)/PL U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /PL U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /RU U	LUC
Irrigating, sprinkler, electricity powered /RU U	Irrigation
Urea ammonium nitrate (UAN), as N, at plant /RoW U	N Fert Production
Calcium ammonium nitrate (CAN), as N, at plant /RoW U	N Fert Production
Inorganic phosphorus fertiliser, as P2O5 {RoW}  nutrient supply from single superphosphate   Cut-off, U	P Fert Production
Phosphate rock, as P2O5, at mine /RoW U	P Fert Production
Statistical land use change mix, Barley (DRYAD)/RU U	LUC
Irrigating, sprinkler, electricity powered /UA U	Irrigation
Statistical land use change mix, Barley (DRYAD)/AR U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /AR U Maize seed, for sowing {GLO}  market for maize seed, for sowing   Cut-	LUC
off, U	Seeds
Irrigating, sprinkler, electricity powered /AR U	Irrigation
Maize grains, heavy metals uptake /GLO U	Other
Pesticide, unspecified, mix for maize crops, at plant /GLO U Emissions from pesticides, unspecified, mix for maize crops, at farm /GLO	Pesticides
U Channing maize (CLO)   market for channing maize   Cut off	resucides
chopping, maize {GLO} interket for chopping, maize   Cut-off, U	маспіпегу

Statistical land use change mix, Maize (DRYAD)/AR U	LUC
Statistical land use change mix, Maize (DRYAD)/CA U	LUC
Irrigating, sprinkler, electricity powered /CN U	Irrigation
Ammonium nitrate (AN), as N, at plant /CN U	N Fert Production
Urea, as N, at plant /CN U	N Fert Production
Monoammonium phosphate (MAP), as N, at plant /CN U	N Fert Production
NPK (15-15-15), as N, at plant /CN U	N Fert Production
Monoammonium phosphate (MAP), as P2O5, at plant /CN U	P Fert Production
Diammonium phosphate (DAP), as P2O5, at plant /CN U	P Fert Production
Ammonium nitrate phosphate (ANP), as P2O5, at plant /CN U	P Fert Production
Potassium nitrate, as K2O, at plant /CN U	K Fert Production
Statistical land use change mix, Maize (DRYAD)/CN U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /CN U	LUC
Irrigating, sprinkler, electricity powered /ES U	Irrigation
Statistical land use change mix, Maize (DRYAD)/ES U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /ES U	LUC
Irrigating, sprinkler, electricity powered /MX U	Irrigation
Statistical land use change mix, Maize (DRYAD)/MX U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /MX U	LUC
Statistical land use change mix, Maize (DRYAD)/UA U	LUC
Irrigating, sprinkler, electricity powered /US U	Irrigation
Statistical land use change mix, Maize (DRYAD)/US U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /US U	LUC
Rice grains, heavy metals uptake /GLO U	Other
Tillage, generic /CH U	Tillage
Irrigating, surface, diesel powered /GLO U	Irrigation
Irrigating, sprinkler, diesel powered /GLO U	Irrigation
Transport, tractor and trailer, agricultural {RoW}  market for transport, tractor and trailer, agricultural   Cut-off, U	Machinery
Fungicide, unspecified, mix for cereal crops, at plant /GLO U Emissions from fungicides, unspecified, mix for cereal crops, at farm /GLO	Pesticides
U	Pesticides
Herbicide, unspecified, mix for cereal crops, at plant /GLO U Emissions from herbicides, unspecified, mix for cereal crops, at farm /GLO	Pesticides
	Pesticides
Emissions from insecticides, unspecified, mix for cereal crops, at plant /GLO U	Pesticides
Rice seed, for sowing $\{G(0)\}$ market for rice seed, for sowing $\{G(0)\}$	Seeds
Statistical land use change mix. Rice, paddy (DRYAD)/CN U	LUC
Methane, biogenic	Direct Emissions

Ammonium nitrate phosphate (ANP), as N, at plant /RoW U Diammonium phosphate (DAP), as N, at plant /RoW U	N Fert Production
Liquid manure spreading, by vacuum tanker {GLO}  market for liquid	Mashinawa
manure spreading, by vacuum tanker   Cut-off, U	Machinery
Statistical land use change mix, Rice, paddy (DRYAD)/IN U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /IN U	LUC
Mineral fertilizer, as N, market for /EC U	N Fert Production
Mineral fertilizer, as P2O5, market for /EC U	P Fert Production
Mineral fertilizer, as K2O, market for /EC U	K Fert Production
Statistical land use change mix, Maize (DRYAD)/EC U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /EC U	LUC
Irrigating infrastructure, sprinkler /GLO U	Irrigation
Irrigating infrastructure, surface /GLO U	Irrigation
Atrazine {GLO}  market for atrazine   Cut-off, U	Pesticides
Pendimethalin {GLO}  market for pendimethalin   Cut-off, U	Pesticides
Triazine-compound, unspecified {GLO}  market for triazine-compound,	Pesticides
Pyridine-compound {GLO} market for pyridine-compound   Cut-off, U	Pesticides
Organophosphorus-compound, unspecified {GLO}  market for organophosphorus-compound, unspecified   Cut-off, U Dinitroaniline-compound {GLO}  market for dinitroaniline-compound   Cut-off, U	Pesticides Pesticides
Cyclic N-compound {GLO}  market for cyclic N-compound   Cut-off, U	Pesticides
[thio]carbamate-compound {GLO}] market for [thio]carbamate-	
compound   Cut-off, U Pyrethroid-compound {GLO}  market for pyrethroid-compound   Cut-off,	Pesticides
U [sulfonyl]urea-compound {GLO}  market for [sulfonyl]urea-compound	Pesticides
Cut-off, U	Pesticides
Diesel, burned in agricultural machinery {GLO}  market for diesel, burned in agricultural machinery   Cut-off, U Riewasta (ReW)   treatment of biewasta, industrial composition   Cut off	Machinery
U	Direct Emissions
Biowaste {RoW}  treatment of biowaste, open dump   Cut-off, U	Direct Emissions
Carbon dioxide, biogenic	Direct Emissions
Mineral fertilizer, as N, market for /EG U	N Fert Production
Manure, liquid, cattle {GLO}  market for manure, liquid, cattle   Cut-off, U	Fertilizers, other
Statistical land use change mix, Maize (DRYAD)/EG U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /EG U	LUC
Petrol, unleaded, burned in machinery {GLO}  market for petrol, unleaded, burned in machinery   Cut-off, U	Machinery
Statistical land use change mix, Maize (DRYAD)/PL U	LUC

Diazine-compound {GLO}  market for diazine-compound   Cut-off, U	Pesticides
Mineral fertilizer, as K2O, market for /BR U	K Fert Production
Mineral fertilizer, as P2O5, market for /BR U	P Fert Production
Mineral fertilizer, as N, market for /BR U	N Fert Production
Statistical land use change mix, Maize (DRYAD)/BR U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /BR U	LUC
Phenoxy-compound {GLO}  market for phenoxy-compound   Cut-off, U	Pesticides
Nitrile-compound {GLO}  market for nitrile-compound   Cut-off, U	Pesticides
Acetamide-anillide-compound, unspecified {GLO}  market for acetamide- anillide-compound, unspecified   Cut-off, U	Pesticides
Naphtha {RoW}  market for naphtha   Cut-off, U	Pesticides
Glyphosate {GLO}  market for glyphosate   Cut-off, U	Pesticides
Mineral fertilizer, as N, market for /TR U	N Fert Production
Mineral fertilizer, as P2O5, market for /TR U	P Fert Production
Mineral fertilizer, as K2O, market for /TR U	K Fert Production
Statistical land use change mix, Maize (DRYAD)/TR U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /TR U	LUC
Herbicide, unspecified, mix for maize crops, at plant /GLO U	Pesticides
Benzoic-compound {GLO}  market for benzoic-compound   Cut-off, U	Pesticides
Dimethenamide {GLO}  market for dimethenamide   Cut-off, U	Pesticides
Crop, default, heavy metals uptake /GLO U	Other
Mineral fertilizer, as N, market for /FR U	N Fert Production
Mineral fertilizer, as P2O5, market for /FR U	P Fert Production
Mineral fertilizer, as K2O, market for /FR U	K Fert Production
Statistical land use change mix, Maize (DRYAD)/FR U	LUC
Metaldehyde {GLO}  market for metaldehyde   Cut-off, U	Pesticides
Metolachlor {GLO}  market for metolachlor   Cut-off, U	Pesticides
Mineral fertilizer, as K2O, market for /IT U	K Fert Production
Mineral fertilizer, as P2O5, market for /IT U	P Fert Production
Mineral fertilizer, as N, market for /IT U	N Fert Production
Statistical land use change mix, Rice, paddy (DRYAD)/IT U	LUC
Diazole-compound {GLO}  market for diazole-compound   Cut-off, U	Pesticides
Mineral fertilizer, as N, market for /HU U	N Fert Production
Mineral fertilizer, as P2O5, market for /HU U	P Fert Production
Mineral fertilizer, as K2O, market for /HU U	K Fert Production
Statistical land use change mix, Maize (DRYAD)/HU U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /HU U	LUC
Benzo[thia]diazole-compound {GLO}  market for benzo[thia]diazole- compound   Cut-off, U	Pesticides
Urea {RoW}  market for urea   Cut-off  ]	N Fert Production
Mineral fertilizer, as N, market for /CL U	N Fert Production

Mineral fertilizer, as P2O5, market for /CL U	P Fert Production
Mineral fertilizer, as K2O, market for /CL U	K Fert Production
Statistical land use change mix, Rice, paddy (DRYAD)/CL U	LUC
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land	
occupation (DRYAD) /CL U	LUC
Statistical land use change mix, Maize (DRYAD)/PE U	LUC
Potassium chloride {RoW}  market for potassium chloride   Cut-off, U Triple superphosphate {RoW}  market for triple superphosphate   Cut-off,	P Fert Production
0	P Fert Production
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /PE U	LUC
Statistical land use change mix, Rice, paddy (DRYAD)/BR U	LUC
Pyrazole {GLO}  market for pyrazole   Cut-off, U	Pesticides
Statistical land use change mix, Rice, paddy (DRYAD)/PK U Electricity, low voltage {PK}  market for electricity, low voltage   Cut-off,	LUC
U	Machinery
Potassium sulfate {RoW}  market for potassium sulfate   Cut-off, U	K Fert Production
Ammonia, anhydrous, liquid {SAS}  market for ammonia, anhydrous, liquid   Cut-off, U	N Fert Production
Diammonium phosphate {RoW}  market for diammonium phosphate   Cut-off, U	P Fert Production
Statistical emissions from peatland degradation from agricultural land occupation (DRYAD) /PK U	LUC
Diesel, burned in diesel-electric generating set, 18.5kW {GLO}  market for diesel, burned in diesel-electric generating set, 18.5kW   Cut-off, U	Machinery
Mineral fertilizer, as K2O, market for /US U	K Fert Production
Mineral fertilizer, as P2O5, market for /US U	P Fert Production
Mineral fertilizer, as N, market for /US U	N Fert Production
Statistical land use change mix, Rice, paddy (DRYAD)/US U	LUC
Copper, cathode {GLO}  market for copper, cathode   Cut-off, U	Other
Statistical land use change mix, Maize (DRYAD)/CL U	LUC
Mineral fertilizer, as K2O, market for /MX U	K Fert Production
Mineral fertilizer, as P2O5, market for /MX U	P Fert Production
Mineral fertilizer, as N, market for /MX U	N Fert Production
Statistical land use change mix, Rice, paddy (DRYAD)/MX U	LUC
Fosetyl-Al {GLO}  market for fosetyl-Al   Cut-off, U	Pesticides
Mancozeb {GLO}  market for mancozeb   Cut-off, U	Pesticides